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Chairman’s Statement
B R &G

Dear Shareholders,

“Stable yet progressive growth” was the summary of the Group’s
performance last year. Under the uncertain global economic
environment and slowdown of the economic growth of Mainland
China and Hong Kong, the Group continued to achieve steady
performance in the financial year 2015. Strong brand advantages,
diversified product categories, broad distribution network, solid
consumer support and stringent quality control as well as relatively
low level of the exchange rate of Japanese yen within the financial
year contributed to the Group’s performance.

RESULTS

In the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group’s
consolidated turnover remained stable at HK$2,907,497,000
(2014: HK$2,910,406,000). The profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company stood at HK$140,185,000 (2014:
HK$160,137,000). Sales for both Hong Kong and Mainland
China remained solid. The sales derived from Hong Kong was
HK$1,939,080,000 (2014: HK$1,920,248,000), representing an
increase of approximately 1% and accounting for 67% of the Group’s
total sales. The sales in Mainland China was HK$968,417,000 (2014:
HK$990,158,000), representing a decrease of approximately 2%
and corresponding to 33% of the Group’s total sales. The segmental
result of Hong Kong recorded an improvement during the year but
the segmental result of Mainland China has been influenced by the

downturn of its performance.
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Chairman’s Statement
E % &

BUSINESS REVIEW

Established in 1971, the Group has been developed into a famous
brand in Hong Kong and Mainland China over the past 44 years. It
began business in food importing and distribution, and expanded
to food manufacturing by setting up its own plants in Hong Kong
and Mainland China as well as food retailing by building its own
specialty store chain. Gradually, the Group moved on to open its own
restaurants and established its own brand. Such development reflected
the strong synergies of the Group’s businesses.

The Group now produces and distributes a wide range of food
products, serving different customer segments. It has a powerful
distribution network, including supermarkets, convenience store
chains, department stores, fast food chains, wholesalers, retailers,
restaurants, hotels, bars and airlines. The Group also owns specialty
stores, including Japanese snack store “Okashi Land” and cookie store
“YOKU MOKU”.

Distribution Business

Food distribution is the core business of the Group. It has been steadily
developed over the years through comprehensive distribution network
and superb sales teams that bring in high-quality food products from
overseas. Currently, the Group distributes food of internationally
renowned brands from many countries, such as Japan, Mainland
China, Korea, Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia, Thailand, Philippines,
Australia, New Zealand, Britain, Ireland, France, Germany, Italy,
Denmark, Holland, Belgium, South Africa, the United States and
Canada. To meet the demand of different customers, a great variety
of products are provided, including milk powder, snacks, health food,

beverages, sauce, seasonings, ham and sausages.
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Chairman’s Statement
B R &G

Manufacturing Business

Over the years, the Group gained market trust and confidence and
received numerous international accreditations, including “HACCP”,
“ISO 90017, “ISO 22000” and “Hong Kong Q-Mark Product Scheme
Certification”. The Group has a total of 20 manufacturing plants in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. With stringent quality control and
sophisticated management system, the Group produces a wide range
of food products to suit different customer needs through its one-stop
business platform.

Retailing and Catering Businesses

The Group has solid retail footholds across Hong Kong. With its well-
known specialty stores, the Group has developed strong brand equity.
The Group’s specialty store “Okashi Land” and Japanese cookie store
“YOKU MOKU” have reached many areas of the city. The catering
businesses, including Japanese style restaurant “Shiki*Etsu”, Shanghai
vegetarian cuisine “Kung Tak Lam”, Japanese-style dumpling fast
food shop “Osaka Ohsho” in Hong Kong, together with “Panxi
Restaurant” in Guangzhou, Japanese restaurant “Mori Café” as well
as sushi restaurant chain “Sushi Oh” in Mainland China are well
received by customers owing to their perfect ambience and superior

management.

BRAND DEVELOPMENT

Consistent efforts in the past 44 years to produce safe, delicious and
quality food, as well as the strong awareness of food hygiene, food
safety and quality food ingredient have made the Group a famous
brand in Hong Kong. In order to live by its motto “Eating Safely,
Eating Happily”, the Group seeks to ensure that all food produced,
distributed and sold have undergone stringent internal food control
system, making sure that every necessary procedure is fulfilled.

Japanese food distribution was the Group’s major business in the early
years. As the scale increased, the Group expanded its businesses to
food manufacturing and retailing in order to diversify business and

develop the “Four Seas” brand.
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Chairman’s Statement
B R &G

Many years of efforts allowed the Group to enter a new stage of
development. Apart from pursuing business growth, it devotes effort to
build its long-term brand image and expand into the Mainland market,
serving as a bridge between the Mainland and the world. It will not
only introduce good quality food to the Mainland, bringing in more
choices and enjoyments, but also take the Mainland food products to

the international arena, helping them expand overseas.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has been devoting tremendous resources to promote
community services in Hong Kong. Last year, it received the
“Distinguished Family-Friendly Employer” and “Award for Innovation”
of 2013/2014 Family-Friendly Employers Award Scheme from the
Home Affairs Bureau and the Family Council. Besides, it supported
different sectors of the community, including Junior Police Call,
schools, elderly and women cares organisations, kaifong welfare
associations, and community organisations by sponsoring Four Seas

delicate products to share the Group’s spirit of “Eating Happily”.

Moreover, the Group’s business is well recognised in the market. It
has been accredited with various awards, including “Asian Social
Caring Leadership Award” of Social Caring Pledge Scheme, “Special
Achievement Award” of Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards,
“Corporate Achievement Award” of Outstanding Import & Export
Enterprise Awards 2014, “Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises
20147, “Outstanding Corporate Image Award 2014”, “Most Valuable
Services Awards in Hong Kong 2014”, “Hong Kong’s Most Valuable
Companies Awards 20147, and “QTS Merchant” of the Quality
Tourism Services Scheme. Besides, the Group received “Caring
Company Award” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service and
“Manpower Developer 2013-2017” of Manpower Developer Award
Scheme by Employees Retraining Board consecutively for a number of
years.
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Chairman’s Statement
B K&

The Group’s distribution and manufacturing businesses also received
numerous awards, including “7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award
20147, “Most Popular Snack Series” of Health & Beauty Awards,
“Kids Favourite Brands Award” of Favourite Brands Awards,
“Outstanding Category Performance Awards” of Favourite Brands
Awards 2014 and the “Hong Kong Q-Mark Licence” by the Federation

of Hong Kong Industries for 26 consecutive years.

In addition, the Group’s retailing and catering businesses achieved
accreditations as well. The “Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian
Cuisine” received the “Best-Ever Vegetarian Restaurant” by the “Best-
Ever Dining Awards 2014”, and “Shiki*Etsu Japanese Restaurant” was
also awarded “Quality Merchant Awards 2014” by Group Buyer.

These achievements are definitely strong affirmations to the Group’s
involvement in community services, encouraging it to quest for
excellence in developing the food market in Hong Kong and the
Mainland.

PROSPECTS

“Catering for Hong Kong’s needs while contributing to the Country”
is the Group’s future development strategy. In pursuing its market
share in Hong Kong food industry, the Group is also committed to

strengthening its food and snacks businesses in Mainland China.

Business in Hong Kong

Based in Hong Kong, the Group will continue to strengthen its
market share and its leading role in the food market, bringing in
different catering experiences to consumers. Recently, the Group
has successfully introduced Japanese premium cookie brand “YOKU
MOKU” to Hong Kong, and it is well received by consumers. After
opening specialty stores in Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and New
Territories, as well as Macau, the Group plans to expand the brand
“YOKU MOKU?” this year by launching the first “YOKU MOKU”
specialty café at Avenue Walk in Wan Chai, providing a leisure space
for its fans to enjoy delicious cookies and pastries in this bustling city.

The Group will keep introducing different types of snack products,
providing consumers with new choices and enjoyments. It will also
continue to seize opportunities in the market to broaden its retail
network, enabling its products to be more accessible to different
segments of consumers.
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Business in Mainland China

Unveiled on 21st April this year, the China (Guangdong) Pilot
Free Trade Zone brought new business opportunities to the Group.
“Four Seas Food International Trading Platform™ is one of the first
authorised core projects in the zone at the Nansha New Area in
Guangzhou. It enables the Group to widen its sales platform and
reveals the fact that the Group’s operation is highly regarded with
strong trust and support.

In response to the latest development, the Group plans to utilise
the “Four Seas Food International Trading Platform” to introduce
diversified food products from different countries into the Free Trade
Zone through cross-border e-commerce platform, allowing consumers
to buy the Group’s food products directly on the internet. Excellent
food quality, wide range of choices, guaranteed food safety, fast
purchase and reasonable pricing are the five key advantages that the
food platform will offer. Consumers in Mainland China can place
orders to purchase the Group’s internationally imported products

through this one-stop online shopping platform.

The entrepreneurial spirit and business direction of the Group are
fully in line with the needs of Mainland China’s development. While
the country is taking initiatives to stimulate domestic consumption
and paying increasing attention to food quality and safety, the Group
will continue to devote efforts on food hygiene, safety and quality to
meet the market needs. Such development will benefit to the Group’s
business in Mainland China.

The Group will continue to promote the Four Seas brand and its
products to different cities in Mainland China as well as widening
its sales network. This year, the Group has successfully secured the
distribution right of Germany famous sweets brand “HARIBO” in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. Through different sales channels,
the Group will further deepen its penetration in the Mainland China
market.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors, I express our most sincere
gratitude to the management team and staff for their efforts and
contribution made to the Group. I would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all shareholders and business partners for their
confidence and continuous support to the Group.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015
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14 Major Awards of the Year

A % % 4 R
AFERBEBREZHEREE

Continuous recognition & awards received during this year

MNEEL2ERERENERLEY — RERAERSHYZES
BEG DMHNERSEABERGNE AEERREY FRAR
W E B EE RS o

Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong
Kong, distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around
the world. The Group has been developing its own premium brand
successfully, and has been highly recognised and accredited with
various awards this year.

AEEFTFHREH I KRBT RE
The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai:

8/ ey TAEA

Award/Recognition Organiser

TEMESR hEARANEEEBHTHERR

Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

DREHEER RORRE ARRIRMADL  PEXEARAERUSE  THARE
FREZSEHATH

(EMAM)  EEANAR AMAMAHNEBNFE

BEmZRERAEMARELE hERME2FE

Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur” China Food Safety Annual Conference

ERESHRMEEANALR AL ERRRIEEEETORATENERL  ARERL P ARLH

Asia Brand Year Personality Award BEWE PECERHRPEABREEIRDOLREH

RELZEA o YHZEAR DIREMEABER T E UM It R4

01EH e EARSRALEAYE BEREARBFBEHAERERAAERR

DRt ABRER DHEEGS  (RERER)E DAREERRGE  DNEEERST  BX

Top 10 Business Leader of Asia Brand RUZTEALEENERY  AXRARRBEAEEMGH  REERST
BEERSEFLEATH

2012-20132 AL R A R NBFATHELETE

Wolrdwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013 TXCS Economic Conference 2013

MERSEEARZ[GAREN LR ARNERE] BRADEMSIREMAANE  LETRAAARGERBEFERSFR

“Most Influential Listed Company Leader” of HEERMREBESRENEEERLF £

The China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards

DREERUR (BB)-TRAIRFRE] DMtEBS

Special Achievement Award of “Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Enterprise Asia & the Organising Committee of the APEA

Awards”
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Award/Recognition

BRRER

Caring Company Award

A exEF 2 AT £%2013-2017 | €8
“‘Manpower Developer 2013-2017" of Manpower
Developer Award Scheme

Rt EREAZ014

QOutstanding Corporate Image Award 2014

B HER014

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2014

B RR01

Most Valuable Services Awards in Hong Kong 2014
EHOLEAR - SRR

“Corporate Achievement Award” of Outstanding Import &
Export Enterprise Awards

ISONNEEEREADE

1509001 Quality Management System Certificate
150220008 a2 2 EBR A%

18022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate
BRREE

Caring Company Award

AT EEET 82l A7 £%2011-2017 ] B
“Manpower Developer 2011-2017" of Manpower
Developer Award Scheme
NIUEERNFERERTEFRREHER
“Distinguished Family-Friendly Employer” and “Award for
Innovation” of Family-Friendly Employers Award Scheme
GMPRFRIEREDE

GMP Certificate
HACCPREAMREBREHERAAE
HACCP Certificate

150220008 22 EBR A%

18022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate
NUEEREHFAR

Quality Merchant Awards 2014
NUBERERR [ ML ERERT]

“Best-Ever Vegetarian Restaurant” of Best-Ever Dining
Awards 2014

[BEREREIATEF

“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme
[KEEREES/AMU4IENNE-ZREE
Highly recommended by “Michelin Guide Hong Kong
Macau 2014".

BRREE

Caring Company Award

AREREER

The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brand
[BERERE I RTEF

“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme
BESARELR014

Hong Kong's Most Valuable Companies 2014

- ZAEZ[2EDRERAI]

“Most Popular Snack Series” of Health & Beauty Awards
N1REZEARMAR

7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award

ETAREE BREEREAR

“Kids Favourite Brands Award” of the Favourite Brands
Awards

NUBEREARMAR

2014 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award

B LMES (TOPY

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark)

FRQEEEERDR
Hong Kong Q-Mark Licence

BRE( /B
Awardees
mHEE

Four Seas Group
mHER

Four Seas Group

EL

Four Seas Group

EL]

Four Seas Group

mHEE

Four Seas Group

BHEAERAR

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited

BAARRR OLE) ERAT
CFSS Company Limited
mKR &R (IE) ERAR
CFSS Company Limited
FEOMAERAT

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
~HBONERAR

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited

FEBENERL A
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited

+EBONERAR

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FEBUNERL A

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
~HBOAERAR

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
BZ HEREE

Shiki - Etsu Japanese Restaurant
HER LSRR

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine

WERLEER
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine
nERLEZR
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine

ZRNE

Okashi Land
ZRYE

Okashi Land
TRME

Okashi Land
ZRNE

Okashi Land

LY e

Four Seas Seaweed
LYiEy 3k
Four Seas Premium Blend Coffee
RAZX

Lotte Japan

+4p
Calbee
SR
Maid Brand

SHREARE
Maid Ham

WO REARRESTFXER -

Certain recognition/awards are only provided with official Chinese name.

Major Awards of the Year
AEE AR

ShieRERe =
Hong Kong Council of Social Services CARING
EEBLIR

Employees Retraining Board

TVBET

TVB Weekly
gE-8

Economic Digest
Mediazone Publishing

BRMERAOBE
HKCIEA

HEEERARL

China Quality Certification Centre
LEFEEELT

China Quality Certification Centre
Bl EREHS

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
EEBEIR

Employees Retraining Board

RUSHRRZEZS
Home Affairs Bureau and Family Council

BEEALE

SGS Hong Kong Limited
EEEALE

SGS Hong Kong Limited
EEBALR

SGS Hong Kong Limited
Group BuyerBEX

Group Buyer

HRART

Weekend Weekly Magazine

BANBERR

Hong Kong Tourism Board
REEED

Michelin Guide

EEnehnEe

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
HEER

China Media

BRKBERR

Hong Kong Tourism Board
Mediazone Publishing

EELE
Mannings China

7-ElevenfE K/

7-Eleven Convenience Store
BERATS

Wellcome Supermarket

7-Elevenf I/

7-Eleven Convenience Store
BERRERERREETEABHCE
Hong Kong Brand Development Council and
The Chinese Manufacturers” Association of
Hong Kong

EEIRE

The Federation of Hong Kong Industries

B - W e

Mo % EMA R oA A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

S

O B W e K g B

Year ended 31 March Change
BRE3N31H L4 I+ 39 be
2015 2014
R =S 11 F2 3
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 (%)
At ik BT BT T
Key items of consolidated TEEAHEREHE
statement of profit or loss
Revenue LN 2,907,497 2,910,406 -0.1
Gross profit BRI 1,040,502 995,103 +4.6
EBITDA REtFE - FiEH - g 1
T i 6 T 6 ) 256,343 257,036 -0.3
Profit attributable to equity 555 JB§ % A 2 R W 2 P A ¥
holders of the Company 140,185 160,137 -12.5
Key financial ratios FEW B E
Gross profit margin FA R 35.8% 34.2%
Net profit margin AR R 4.8% 5.5%
Inventory turnover days P YL SN 60 50
Trade receivables R Wi B 5 i ek R R 65 63
turnover days
Trade payables JE A B ) R s A R B 3 40 37

turnover days

Notes:

1. EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and
amortisation (excluding share of profits and losses of associates).

2. Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company divided by revenue.

3. The calculation of inventory and trade payables turnover days is based on
the average of the opening and closing balances divided by cost of sales
and multiplied by number of days for the year.

4. The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by
number of days for the year.

1 REHALE ~ PR~ U788 o B 89 i e A COF £ 455 JE A
W8 s W i A B g 1)

2. AR A A FIRE RS T A 5 AN A B DL FHGE

3. R RMEAT B 5k R R WO R S 0 TR A
5% P T 35 Bk DL G R A P LA 9 R G5

4. FECEE B JE R MR S S A R A R T

BB DL BN B R LA R EHAE o

O SR S T B B S S R

A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o B e Ko B

During the year, revenue of the Group has remained stable at
HK$2,907,497,000 (2014: HK$2,910,406,000). Gross profit as
a percentage of the revenue has increased from 34.2% in the
previous year to 35.8% in the year. This has contributed to the
increase of gross profit from HK$995,103,000 in the previous
year to HK$1,040,502,000 in the year, representing an increase of
HK$45,399,000 which is equivalent to an increase of 4.6%. The
increase in the gross profit was attributable to the depreciation in
Japanese yen which is one of the major currencies for the purchase
of imported items for the Group. EBITDA of the Group has remained
stable at HK$256,343,000 (2014: HK$257,036,000). Profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the year was HK$140,185,000
(2014: HK$160,137,000), representing a cutback of 12.5%.

During the year sales revenue of the major items are:

RN AAE T Z WA HEFEOF R > £52,907,497,000
Wt (2014: 2,910,406,000% J6) - BRI E I A Z Ik
Bl 254 234.2% L T BAAE 235.8% » i B Z
B H 4% B 24 2995,103,0009 76 LT BAEZ
1,040,502,000% 5t » 78 BP I 7+45,399,000% )¢ » 82
4 ET4.6% - BRZ ETF > B 2 H B Z B2 1 %2
B WP H B 2 A 4R P R R DT A R 2 — TH R R
o RFFFE ~ FrARBL - 8 B Mk 6 0 6 A Ak R o7
12 > £256,343,000% JC (2014: 257,036,000% J) °
555 B R AR 2y R RE 25 BT A & i R %5 140,185,0009 JG
(2014: 160,137,000¥70) » W47 12.5% °

PN EEEMBZIBAWT

Year ended 31 March Change
BRE3IH3H L4 5 390 ke

2015 2014

it S X 2 R4
HK$’000 HKS$°000 (%)

BT W
Snack N 1,193,466 1,134,055 +5.2
Confectionery bR 506,640 494,424 +2.5
Ham and sausage V& 364,729 351,633 +3.7
Beverage and dairy products OB B P 5 298,162 321,444 7.2
Food materials/ingredients & ERE TR 244,068 237,647 +2.7

Snack items continue to be the major items carried by the Group.
Improvement in the sales revenue of 5.2% in snack items has been
achieved during the year. Popular items such as potato chip, prawn
crackers and corn sticks have been well received by the consumers of
both Hong Kong and mainland China.

Confectionery items of the Group recorded an increase of 2.5% in the
sales revenue during the year. “YOKU MOKU?” cookie specialty shops
operated by the Group have been developing smoothly. There are now
6 shops of “YOKU MOKU?” located in Hong Kong and Macau. The
premium confectionery gift boxes of “YOKU MOKU” offer a good
choice to consumers looking for quality food items, during both the

festive seasons and the ordinary days.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

There was an increase of 3.7% in the sales revenue for ham and
sausage items of the Group during the year. Mostly under the
brandname “Maid”, the ham and sausage items of the Group are
regarded as high quality items by the market. This has contributed to

their continuous and steady growth in its sales revenue.

With the overall weak demand and heavy competition, the sales
revenue of beverage and dairy products of the Group decreased by

7.2% during the year.

Sales revenue of the food materials/ingredients business of the Group
has increased by 2.7% during the year. Major customers of the
business continue to be restaurants, bakery and various kinds of food

manufacturing plants.

Capital, liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers.
As at 31 March 2015, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of HK$857,587,000. As at 31 March 2015, the Group had banking
facilities of approximately HK$2,615,575,000, of which 38% had been
utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 71% as at 31 March 2015.
This is expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group,
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese yen, Renminbi and
United States dollars, mainly comprise trust receipt loans and bank
loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings™) at prevailing market
interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings which are
classified as current liabilities are repayable on demand or within
one year and the Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings in non-current

liabilities are repayable in the second to third years.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2015, the Group did not pledge any assets and had no
significant contingent liabilities.

O B W e K g B

AR SR [ 2 KB D A M i 2 8 R AR B 3 R
3.7% o T 35— I i B A I 2 [ 4 Ik M | K I A M
il 2 TR R WBORE B > A B S DASR A S R R 3
%O

FH 7 2 B T 5 T R 89 B B AN AR [ 2 foR)
B S B 5 8 B BN NI AT 2% ©

B JEORE TR SR B Z 8 AR IR 2.7 % o
ZEBEF U323 - BT A S8 R B A
AR5 o

REAR ~ L B B 4 B I BCRE O

AR S B — B D PR I B B A R A A AR AR AT R
WZEREAEHREZBE R-F—HLE=A
Et—H o AREEBEAZHRERILSFEMEEA R
857,587,000% 76 - R _F—HEZH=+—H » K
LA AT S H I 492,615,575,000% 58 > H
38RMOCHM - AEHR _R—LHE=ZHA=1—H
ZEBEARLERETI% » I8 B SRAT A sk A A B AR A
i) WE 25 BT A R AN RE 25 2 L) o AN 4R 2 SRAT A K
Dot~ HIE - ARWRELC LR > WEHE
T AR AT B B R A BRI B B R AT B
ak ([ZEBAT R B Z 8 AT 85k ]) o 4 8% i B &
Z A BT R B Z BRAT B R 2 e B R N R — 4
o T 43 R 2 TR B 6 < JE B R B SR AT AR
JH SR AR B AR AR o

BE 7 41K 10 B o AR £ 4

MR -RHEZAZ4—H > AR AT
U N R

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o BLE W am Koo A
Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment which were contracted but not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$13,698,000 as at 31 March 2015.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly from sales
and purchases transactions in Japanese yen and Renminbi. The
appreciation or devaluation of Japanese yen or Renminbi against Hong

Kong dollar may have impact on the Group’s operating results.

The Group’s foreign exchange position is monitored on an ongoing
basis in order to minimise the impact from the unfavourable
fluctuation of foreign currencies. The Group currently does not
maintain a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Staff employment and remuneration policies

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2015 was
approximately 4,100. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance

appraisals and other relevant factors.
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RE-FZ—HEZA=Z1—H > KEEBRDE - K5
Bk i 2 O RT #4H R I 7 i i WA R
13,698,000%% JC °

A BE o, B

ACHR [ 2 32 By £ W L B R A DL H B R N RO
T HER S o H IS R 59 50 TH I 8z A T
FE S A 52 I 2 4 SR AU U B o

AR B A B R AN AR DL o DA AN 2 A0 W 5 B
B B IR o ACHE [ B IR 3 S A 5 A1 BOR -
SR > A P g B % A R DL B o SIS AE AT T R R
EZRUIR N )

LI B 36 T B OR

AREMP _F-HEEA=E+THZHAETHY
#14,100\ = 8 B 5 I — B 2 7% i B sk e A8 ! ¥ IR
T A o 4 M L e A B R I A A B IH) 3K
Y AR Mt o



The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates
are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements, respectively.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the financial
position of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the

financial statements on pages 56 to 167.

An interim dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share was paid by the
Company on 15 January 2015. The directors recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HK6.5 cents per ordinary share in respect of the
year to shareholders on the register of members on 10 September 2015.
This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements
as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the

statement of financial position.

Report of the Directors
= F ok

FEREHEREEFFERE A RAAF KA B E
R -hEZHAE IR RERI B -
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Report of the Directors

G

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited

Yok 5 B 2

A5 T 00 % A B B R 2 SR A A RLAUER)
FH L A e A7 A 1 B 5 e P I > AR TR O 8

financial statements, is set out below: H:
Year ended 31 March
BEZH=1—HIL4EE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
SR N CFWE SF S ZF T B
HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT o o BT
RESULTS E 3
REVENUE WA 2,907,497 2,910,406 2,899,647 2,789,334 2,561,847
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A 1 ¥ A 137,349 152,280 107,203 43,787 72,733
Attributable to: Bt g Y
Equity holders of the A2 ) I 2
Company i ES 140,185 160,137 110,779 52,581 72,324
Non-controlling interests I 4 B WE 2% (2,836) (7,857) (3,576) (8,794) 409
137,349 152,280 107,203 43,787 72,733
As at 31 March
W=H=1+—H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
SR G SROWE SRSF SRS SRk
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T T T BT BT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES %7 K& fi 1%
TOTAL ASSETS R 2,835,330 2,589,950 2,465,385 2,425,843 2,362,492
TOTAL LIABILITIES 8 =Eiy (1,409,986) (1,231,265) (1,236,643) (1,290,006) (1,242,763)
1,425,344 1,358,685 1,228,742 1,135,837 1,119,729

The information set out above does not form part of the audited

financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and an
investment property of the Group during the year are set out in notes
14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further details of

the Group’s investment property are set out on page 168.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year

are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 31(b) to the financial statements and

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2015, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to HK$287,204,000,
of which HK$24,977,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the

year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the reporting

period are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

WU Wing Biu

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson

YIP Wai Keung (retired on 28 August 2014)

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han
CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Tsunao KIJIMA

In accordance with article 119 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
and Mr. Wu Wing Biu shall retire and being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be

independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group, and reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Group. Particulars of the duties
and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in

“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix

10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Report of the Directors
= E Wk

AR R 2 B

TR BEN > 4478 M A 7 A 2 ]l AT Ao S 4 ]
R AT S A A ) S T K A A R B
] B B A L 25 B2 o

AT
Z HE 2

REF-HE=ZA=Z+—H > KARESRREFT
BN B AR 2 ] sl AT ] AR 0B I (R 9 S o X
W R (82 R RG] SEXVER) Z B fr Je Al
R JBe v > A AR Bl 2 BT R 5 3 520 LA P
B 2 % e e 85 > O B TR AR ) B R 109 3R
Z BB AT N ST SR A2 S W R A ) ([ A
SR J) 28 a0 o A ) B U 28 i 2 B AR B R AT

TR AR 2y v 3 BB By Z A

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

held/interested issued share capital
Notes 0 e i 4 5 LB AT
Name of director AR Wit Capacity 201 ¥E/BHYHE JBeAS BERI 2 Be
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Wy @) Interest of controlled et~ v BE AR 259,478,000 67.52%
corporations
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WA (i) Interest of spouse and TR 15 1 £ % 259,478,000 67.52%
interest of controlled Pt A vl HE 25

corporations
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G

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes:

()

(i)

Such shares comprise:

(a)

(b)

(c)

70,000,000 shares, representing 18.22% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are held by Careful Guide Limited (“CGL”), which is
wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen;

74,250,000 shares, representing 19.32% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are held by Special Access Limited (“SAL”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be interested
in the 74,250,000 shares held by SAL; and

115,228,000 shares, representing 29.98% of the Company’s issued
share capital, are held by Capital Season Investments Limited
(“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance Finance Investments
Limited (“AFI”) which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”). Accordingly,
HKFH is deemed to be interested in the 115,228,000 shares in the
Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07% by the Company, 2.59% by
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38% by SAL, and 11.91% by CGL.
As Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the spouse of Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is deemed to be interested in
the shares of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and vice versa. Therefore,
Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung,
Quinly are considered to have deemed interests in the 115,228,000
shares of the Company by virtue of their interests in HKFH.

As mentioned in note (i)(b) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and her

spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen are deemed to be interested in the
74,250,000 shares held by SAL. In addition to the deemed interests
of 115,228,000 shares in the Company’s issued share capital as stated

in note (i)(c) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also deemed to be

interested in the 70,000,000 shares through the interests of her spouse,

Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, in CGL as mentioned in note (i)(a) above.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe
for shares in the Company required to be disclosed pursuant to the
SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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G

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2015, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had interests

of 5% or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

2 BB HOR A 24 vl By B A Bl Bt A
ZHERE K BRI

PEFE-RAEZH=+—H > U AL (B30 #
B A T R B AT BN B BRAM) A A AR
15 8 23 I U B R 9] 5H 3361k 2 ML E BT AR B 2 B

Tk e 5 % AT A 2 W) IR S %o DA b 2 B2

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: ARG MBS
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary the Company’s
shares held/ issued
interested share capital
fhiA A
Name of substantial Notes HEB TR
shareholder EX Y ES Mt Capacity S F4/BAH8H BAE LI
SAL Beneficial owner WA A 74,250,000 19.32%
CGL Beneficial owner WA A 70,000,000 18.22%
cst Beneficial owner HREAA 115,228,000 29.98%
AFI (i) Interest of controlled e 2 R 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
HKFH B (i) Interest of controlled Pt A W 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
Value Partners Group EHEEARA T (it) Interest of controlled P A vl B RS 24,637,600 6.41%
Limited (“VPG”) ([FEPsEHE]) corporation
Cheah Capital Management (i) (iii) Interest of controlled e e AR 24,637,600 6.41%
Limited (“CCM”) corporation
Cheah Company Limited (iii) Interest of controlled FE il A 7 2% 24,637,600 6.41%
(“ccLr) corporation
BNP Paribas Jersey (iif) Nominee (EUN 24,637,600 6.41%
Nominee Company
Limited (“BNPN”)
BNP Paribas Jersey Trust (iii) Trustee ZEEA 24,637,600 6.41%
Corporation Limited
(“BNPT”)
Cheah Cheng Hye i (i) (iii) Founder of a ZHEMEFRAIA 24,637,600 6.41%
discretionary trust
To Hau Yin JiRS) (iv) Interest of spouse T 164 B 25 24,637,600 6.41%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes:

(i) The entire issued share capital of CSI is held by AFI which in turn is
wholly owned by HKFH. Accordingly, each of AFI and HKFH is deemed
to be interested in the same 115,228,000 shares of the Company held by
CSL

(ii) Value Partners Limited (“VPL”) is wholly owned by Value Partners
Hong Kong Limited (“VPHKL”) and holds the 24,637,600 shares of the
Company. VPHKL is wholly owned by VPG, which in turn is 28.47%
owned by CCM.

(iii) CCM is wholly owned by CCL, which in turn is wholly owned by
BNPN in its capacity as nominee for BNPT. BNPT, holding 100% of the
interest of BNPN, acts as a trustee of a trust. Mr. Cheah Cheng Hye was
a founder of a discretionary trust. Each of VPHKL, VPG, CCM, CCL,
BNPN, BNPT and Mr. Cheah Cheng Hye is deemed to be interested in the
24,637,600 shares held by VPL.

(iv) Ms. To Hau Yin is deemed to be interested in these shares through the
interest of her spouse, Mr. Cheah Cheng Hye.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2015, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation”) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note

30 to the financial statements.

There was no outstanding share option at the beginning or at the end
of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2015, no share option has

been granted under the share option scheme.
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R

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 67, has been an executive director of the Company since June
1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman of the Group, in charge of
corporate and policy planning. Apart from being awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star and Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Dr. Tai has also been
appointed as Justice of the Peace. He holds the Visiting Professor
of South China Normal University and South China Agricultural
University, member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan University. He
is a Standing Committee Member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and a Standing
Committee Member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”).
Dr. Tai holds several public positions, including the president of
the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the president of Hong Kong
Japan Confectionery, Biscuit & Foodstuffs Association, the president
of Friends of Hong Kong Association, the founding chairman of the
Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, the chairman
of the Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, and
Economic Adviser of Jilin City. He received a number of awards
and accolades, including “Special Achievement Award” of Asia
Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards, the Worldwide Prominent Chiu
Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013, the World Outstanding
Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the Grand Charity
Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service
Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the chairman and an executive director of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company and the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide
Limited and Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Dr. Tai is the spouse of Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, the managing director and an executive director of
the Company and the father of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the director of the
Group’s business development department. He is also a brother-in-law
of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 62, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is a
co-founder and the managing director of the Group, responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning and operation policies, leading the
Group’s core business in congruence with its corporate development.
She has more than 30 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company and the mother of
Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the director of the Group’s business development
department. Dr. Wu is a sister of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 59, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the finance
director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance, accounting,
information technology and project investments of the Group. Mr.
Man has a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales in Australia. He is also a member of CPA Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
gained extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992. He is
also the managing director of HKFH.

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 56, has been an executive director of
the Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu is experienced in sales,
marketing and merchandising and is now responsible for product
purchasing, merchandising, brand name development, and assisting
in the establishment of close relationship with mainland Chinese and
overseas suppliers. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the food
and confectionery industry. Mr. Wu joined the Group in 1978. He
is a brother-in-law of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the chairman and
an executive director of the Company, and a brother of Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, the managing director and an executive director of the
Company. Mr. Wu is an uncle of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the director of the

Group’s business development department.

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 54, has been an executive
director of the Company since April 2010. Mr. Nam is responsible for
managerial controls and company secretarial affairs. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate of both the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has
extensive financial and managerial experience. Mr. Nam worked in the
Group from 1996 to 1999, and re-joined the Group in 2001.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 65, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in June 1993. Mr. Yip was responsible for project
development of the Group and liaising with joint venture partners.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip was responsible for the sales and
marketing activities in a Japanese food company in Hong Kong. He
has more than 30 years’ experience in sales development. Mr. Yip
joined the Group in 1979. He was also an executive director of HKFH.
He retired at the annual general meetings of the Company and HKFH
held on 28 August 2014 due to retirement and has ceased acting as an
executive director of the Company and HKFH since then.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 56, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 1998. Ms.
Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member of CPA Australia. Ms.
Leung has more than 20 years’ experience in accounting, securities,
corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung is an executive
director of AMCO United Holding Limited and an independent non-
executive director of Bossini International Holdings Limited. She was
an independent non-executive director of Yue Da Mining Holdings
Limited from 2007 to 29 May 2015. The shares of these companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 69, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan was the
chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until July 2002.
He was a senior general manager of a local bank until November 1998.
Mr. Chan was also a director of a listed company in Hong Kong from
1993 to 1995 and an executive director of a joint Chinese foreign bank
in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the
banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan is currently an independent
non-executive director of Imagi International Holdings Limited.
He was an independent non-executive director of GOME Electrical
Appliances Holding Limited from 2004 to 24 June 2015. The shares of
both companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 67, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2011. Mr. Kijima
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Keio University
in Japan. He is the managing director and chief strategic officer of
Nissin Foods Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Tokyo
Stock Exchange. He was the executive vice president of Mitsubishi
Corporation and also the chief representative for China and Europe of
Mitsubishi Corporation during different periods of time. Mr. Kijima
has more than 35 years’ experience of worldwide trading of processed
foods, beverages, snack foods and other food products. Mr. Kijima
served as a non-executive director of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings
Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, from 2001 to 2006. He was an independent non-
executive director of the Company from 1997 to 2006.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Kaoru ISHIKAWA, aged 59, is the general manager of the
Group, responsible for planning and managing the Group’s businesses
in Mainland China. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ishikawa was the
president of Calbee Four Seas Company Limited, a joint venture
company of the Group and CALBEE, Inc. of Japan. He was later
promoted to the position of an operating officer of CALBEE, Inc. of
Japan and became the general manager of its West Japan Division,
responsible for food production, sales and marketing. Mr. Ishikawa
has more than 30 years’ experience in the food industry and joined the
Group in 2012.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 54, is a director and the general manager
of Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for the overall strategic
planning and production operation of the Group’s ham manufacturing
operations. He has extensive experience in the manufacturing of ham
and ham related products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also
an executive director of HKFH.

Mr. LAI Yuk Fai, Patrick, aged 60, is the director of the Group’s
Hong Kong and Macau sales department, responsible for sales
development and strategic management of Hong Kong and Macau
markets. Mr. Lai has a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, he was the general manager of the sales department of a
multinational company. Mr. Lai joined the Group in 1998 and
temporarily left in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the Group in
2008.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 32, is the director of the Group’s business
development department, responsible for new business planning and
development of the Group. Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) degree from the City University of Hong
Kong. He has extensive experience in retail management, brands
development and marketing planning. He joined the Group in 2004.
He is also an executive director of HKFH. Mr. Tai is a son of Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, and Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, both are executive
directors of the Company and serve the position of the chairman
and managing director of the Company, respectively. Mr. Tai is the

nephew of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. FUNG Kwok Wing, Kenny, aged 54, is the associate director of
the Group’s internal audit department responsible for internal audit
function. Mr. Fung holds a Master of Business Administration degree,
Master of Corporate Governance degree, Master of Finance degree
and Master of Professional Accounting degree. He is also a member
of various professional institutes, including the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Fung has extensive experience in accounting
and administration. He joined the Group in 1985 and temporarily left
in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the Group in 2008.

Mr. WONG Hung Kin, aged 56, is an associate director of the
Group’s merchandising and marketing department, responsible for
product purchasing and merchandising. Mr. Wong holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from the California Southern
University in the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was
a marketing manager of a local wines & spirits company and has
extensive experience in purchasing and marketing. Mr. Wong joined
the Group in 1995.

Ms. LAU Pik Ki, Peggie, aged 48, is the associate director of the
Group’s communications department, responsible for corporate
communications and advertising management. Ms. Lau holds a Master
of Arts degree from Macquarie University, Australia. Before joining
the Group, she worked for one of the leading retail chains of electrical
appliances in Hong Kong, responsible for advertising and promotion

management. She joined the Group in 2010.

Ms. TAM Bo Yee, Joan, aged 37, is the financial controller of the
Group, responsible for finance and accounting. She holds a degree of
Bachelor of Business Administration in accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Ms. Tam has extensive experience in finance and accounting
profession. Prior to joining the Group, she was a manager of an

international accounting firm. Ms. Tam joined the Group in 2008.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. LAI Chi Ming, aged 58, is the general manger of Dongguan
Four Seas Meat Processing Company Limited in Guangdong, China,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for overall
management of ham and sausages production in Mainland China. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Heriot-Watt
University in the United Kingdom, Bachelor of Laws degree from the
Peking University in China and Master of Professional Accounting
degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lai has extensive experience in meat processing manufacturing and

management. He joined the Group in 1981.

Mr. HO Kwok Tong, Fred, aged 61, is the general manager of the
Group’s information technology department, responsible for corporate
information management and information technology development. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the California
Southern University in the United States. Mr. Ho has extensive
experience in the development of management information systems.
He joined the Group in 1994.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less

than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, the Company repurchased certain of

its shares on the Stock Exchange, details of which are summarised as

%K’A\EIJ:TF%#Z&E ~ A

TP B RBAE BT > A S T AR O L T BBy > A
R S BB o T

follows:
Month of Number of shares Price per share Aggregate
repurchase repurchased Highest Lowest consideration
ik el A By Jor Wk 1l )t Ay % H B RS A
I v 24119
HK$ HK$ HKS$’000
#r #r BT T
July 2014 e Sl Ui E2 o8 o E| 1,644,000 5.02 4.65 8,051
August 2014 R —-ENH 1,040,000 4.77 4.65 4,901
September 2014 ZF—NUFELA 968,000 4.86 4.60 4,618
3,652,000 17,570

All the repurchased shares were cancelled by the Company. The
issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal
value of these cancelled shares. The premium paid on the repurchase
was charged to the share premium account. An amount equivalent to
the par value of the ordinary shares cancelled was transferred from
retained profits to the capital redemption reserve.

The repurchase of the Company’s shares during the year was effected
by the directors, pursuant to the mandates granted by shareholders at
the annual general meetings held on 23 August 2013 and 28 August
2014, respectively, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a whole
by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of
the Group.

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 March 2015.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

On 6 August 2012, the Company entered into a Master Supply
Agreement with HKFH, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to supply or procure its
subsidiaries to supply certain pre-packed food and beverage products
to HKFH and its subsidiaries for their retail business in Mainland
China. The Master Supply Agreement has a term commencing from
the date of the signing of the Master Supply Agreement until 31
March 2015, further details of which are included in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 August 2012. For the year ended 31 March
2015, the sales of goods to a subsidiary of HKFH amounted to
approximately HK$3,464,000.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above and
have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according
to the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a

whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares was held by the public as at the date of

this report.
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G

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The audit committee comprises

the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the “Annual Report™).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
a good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with most
of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) with the exception of code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2
of the CG Code, details will be set out below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor

performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board; and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises eight directors consisting of five
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board
and Board Committees as at 31 March 2015:

A (%)
A AL

AAFEFFAFHEN\LEF > HhQF L4 HT#E
FLREABLIEATES

MREF-REZA=ZT—H #HHEGRERLZEY
AR 2R R B B R R A

Board of Directors

WA

Executive directors

HIT#EF

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
WA ()

WA (H HAAER)
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
SCK

Wu Wing Biu

WK R

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
Ly

Independent non-executive directors
T I B AT #F

Leung Mei Han

2R

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter

PR £

Tsunao Kijima

7R B A 1

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)

Company Secretary
AR

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
BB

Executive Committee Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee

Wi ZAH

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman)

WA ()

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
WA

Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
SCRFE

HEERG

Leung Mei Han
(Chairperson)
RS (L)

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
R A=

Tsunao Kijima

A s A 1

HFMERG

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
(Chairman)

BEEAE ()

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
HIRA

Leung Mei Han
PES ]

REAZOE

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman)

WA (L)

Leung Mei Han
R

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
Bk A=

Wu Wing Biu
WK AR

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of
this Annual Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meeting

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as
other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2015 and the attendance record of each director at the said

Corporate Governance Report
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board meeting and the annual general meeting of the Company is set FRAE & 0 R A SR R
out below:
Number of meetings attended/held
R BAT K B
Regular Annual
Board General
Meeting Meeting
Name of director WA Wl BENERY
Executive directors AT H G
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) WAEY () 4/4 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) W L% (i A A PE) 4/4 1/1
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCK A 414 1/1
Wu Wing Biu (iR 4/4 1/1
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ 4/4 1/1
Yip Wai Keung * BE fgt i+ 2/4 171
Independent non-executive directors A K
Leung Mei Han LW 4/4 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ 0 4/4 1/1
Tsunao Kijima NE DS 414 0/1
e Mr. Yip Wai Keung retired as an executive director of the Company at the ® AR N AR A FE 2N H —+)\H 5

conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28 August
2014.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meeting (continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
or committee members for their comment within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’
inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional member of the Board. Appointments are first
considered by the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details
in respect of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance
Report.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the Articles
of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such
a deviation is not material as a casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an annual training
session on the new development of the Listing Rules and statutory
updates for the Board during the year. In addition, some directors have
attended seminars and workshops on topics which are relevant to their
work and responsibilities so as to update their technical knowledge
and professional skills during the year ended 31 March 2015. Relevant
reading materials on corporate governance, regulatory developments
and changes of accounting standards and other topics relevant to the
Company’s business and director’s duties and responsibilities have
been given to the directors of the Company from time to time during

the year under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development (continued)

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year under review is summarised below:

A (%)
0 2 5 U (D)

7% [ A JBE P 22 B A5 S S8 3 Je 2 A8 i) 5 S 19 R
A

Types of training

Name of director HHEHR KN
Executive directors PATHEGE

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) W () B, C
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) IR (HHHAEIE) B,C
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis KB A, B, C
Yip Wai Keung * TE fpt il C
Wu Wing Biu KR B,C
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ A,B,C
Independent non-executive directors LW = R

Leung Mei Han RS A, B, C
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B A A, B, C
Tsunao Kijima Y NSE B,C

A — Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums
B — Attending in-house annual training session
C — Reading updates on relevant topics including corporate governance and

regulatory updates

* Mr. Yip Wai Keung retired as an executive director of the Company at the
conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28 August
2014.

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director respectively.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. She is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions

from the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his/her independence and the Company is of the view that the existing
independent non-executive directors are independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to
the date of this Annual Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which are available
to shareholders upon request. The terms of reference of the Board
committees, except those of Executive Committee, are also available
for viewing on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are executive directors.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee include approval and
execution of the corporate guarantees to be provided by the Company
to individual bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to
any company of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, non
wholly-owned subsidiaries and associates within the meaning of the

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Executive Committee has held twenty-nine meetings during the
year for the purposes of approving, inter alia, to give guarantees for
banking facilities granted to companies of the Group and to provide
guarantees and/or indemnities with respect to the obligations of a

wholly-owned subsidiary in tenancy agreements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Executive Committee during the year are
set out below:

wRZHG ()
WA I (8D

BT & H AR A A B A SRS R

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Executive Committee member BT RAARBAR R BAT f R B
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen e

(Chairman of Executive Committee) (HAfTZHGEMH) 29/29
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly e 29/29
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SO 29/29
Yip Wai Keung * BE fRE o+ 15/29
Wu Wing Biu * KB 14/29

e Mr. Yip Wai Keung ceased to be a member of the Executive Committee
at the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting held on 28
August 2014.

Mr. Wu Wing Biu has been appointed as a member of the Executive
Committee with effect from 28 August 2014.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao Kijima.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control system
of the Group, to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them, to maintain an appropriate relationship with the

Company’s external auditors and to oversee the audit process.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2015 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2014 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2015 of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:

Corporate Governance Report
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wREZHG ()
WHE UG (5

W H A A B A SRS R

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Audit Committee member HERRAGRBAR R BT f R B
Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of Audit Committee) REW(FHEZERATEE) 2/2
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter 1 e 2/2
Tsunao Kijima y Y 2/2
Remuneration Committee HNEER &

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and is currently constituted by two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Leung Mei Han and an

executive director, namely Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration of all directors and senior management and the

remuneration packages of individual directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has convened one meeting during
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and
structure, the remuneration packages of all directors and senior
management by reference to the individual performance, skills and
knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities, and performance
and profitability of the Group, and the service contracts of the
directors for the year under review. Details of the emoluments of each

director of the Company are set out in note 8 to financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:

wRZHG ()
LESAC Y

Wi 2 H A B R A SRS I R

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Remuneration Committee member FHZERERA AR Y Y ZiRf /e 1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B A=

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (F#Zs B & L W) 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly [iE3as 1/1
Leung Mei Han PLESY ] 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management, not being the directors of the Company, by

band is set out below:

BRECR-LFE=ZA=ZTHIRFRIEERERZ
FAREHEANB ZHMALB T

Remuneration band 33 T AL Number of person
(HKS$) (&) A
Nil to 1,000,000 % %1,000,000

1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001%2,000,000 5
2,000,001 to 3,000,000 2,000,001%3,000,000 1

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in

notes 8 and 9 to financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises an executive director,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms.
Leung Mei Han and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board
diversity policy of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee has convened one meeting during the
year to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company, and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:

Corporate Governance Report
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ERZH G (5)

RHEZAE (F)

P4 Z H R [l AR B W R AT — Rk AR R (L
R A ) AN - N R AR o DA DR O A A
)RBTGO A M KB Ao 4
3 LR A A 2 BB Sr IR BULAT EE g 2 B an Ak

RAZHIRFENZ W LERIIWT

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Nomination Committee member REZHARBHH I TR r T8 -
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen R e

(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (HREZHAEGEN) 171
Leung Mei Han I 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter R AR 1/1
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy S S A A

The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The
Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the
Company. Under the Policy, the Nomination Committee will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service in reviewing and assessing the Board
composition. The Nomination Committee has assessed the composition
of the Board against these aspects and has come to the conclusion that

it is a balanced board of directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under view, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transactions by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”)
on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities
transactions by the employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance
of the Employees Code by the employees was noted by the Company
throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2015. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2015, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgements and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”), are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report of this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration

EY have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditors by
shareholders at the 2014 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, EY received approximately
HK$2,758,000 (2014: HK$2,628,000) for audit and related services
and approximately HK$350,000 (2014: HK$359,000) for other non-
audit services which include the taxation services.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s
assets and reviewing its effectiveness. The system, including the
strategies, policies and expectations on the oversight of the Company’s
internal control and risk management, has been designed to manage
the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve the business objectives. Therefore, it can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement, loss or fraud. The management is accountable to the
Board for implementing the strategies and policies on internal control

and risk management adopted by the Board.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training

programmes and budget.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson, an executive director of the Company,
is the company secretary. During the year under review, Mr. Nam
undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of shareholders holding at the date of deposit not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right to
vote deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 30 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene the general meeting, the requistionists
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s

website at www.fourseasgroup.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Four Seas Group Building, No. 1 Hong
Ting Road, Sai Kung, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company

Secretary.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders” Communication Policy
reflecting mostly current practices of the Company for communication
with its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information
in relation to the Group to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board

to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at www.fourseasgroup.com.hk as
a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public

access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditors” Report
B o7 A% B b ¥R

Ernst & Young TKETHRIERFT
ﬁ i 22/F, CITIC Tower BBTRRAEEE
7, 1Tim Mei Avenue  FR{E A B2218

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 167, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 March 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.
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To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2015, and of the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

RYN
B A R 45 %
Year ended 31 March 2015 ®E _-F—H4AE=H=+—HIL4RE
2015 2014
e S S ZE 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
M &t T BT
REVENUE BCA 5 2,907,497 2,910,406
Cost of sales B 8 B AR (1,866,995) (1,915,303)
Gross profit EH 1,040,502 995,103
Other income and gains, net HAb g A Kt - A 5 28,742 42,547
Selling and distribution expenses S8 Ko B (571,209) (546,828)
Administrative expenses AT BUBA 32 (291,707) (278,169)
Other operating expenses H: At %5 48 bR S (10,348) (14,030)
Finance costs il B AR 6 (15,538) (15,185)
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A W28 2 ] e R K e 1R 4,108 8,510
PROFIT BEFORE TAX % B iy 6k A 7 184,550 191,948
Income tax expense P 443 i B 32 10 (47,201) (39,668)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR W i A 137,349 152,280
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company A\ B W 2 A 11 140,185 160,137
Non-controlling interests Ik e B 25 (2,836) (7,857)
137,349 152,280
EARNINGS PER SHARE ARAA N BHER A H HK cents HK cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY A 4 Bt 75 ) Al A
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
— Basic and diluted — AR R 13 36.4 41.3

Details of the dividends paid and proposed for the year are disclosed in

note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 57

w4 I AR R
Year ended 31 March 2015 #&E =% —fiE=H =+— HILEE
2015 2014
—R 1A &
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
At it W T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR N % A 137,349 152,280
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Fofib 2w e 2% Ok 47)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Vv i3 Ny
to be reclassified to profit or loss FE R w Z H M2
in subsequent periods: Weas ~(E#H) -
Available-for-sale investments: A gt R
Changes in fair value ARSEE 3 9,371 36,085
Reclassification adjustments for mABESREZWR S HEE
gains/losses included in the 2 4 S
consolidated statement of
profit or loss
— gain on disposal —HEZ K 5 (26,251) (24,182)
— impairment losses — WA 5 18 7 = 418
(16,880) 12,321
Exchange differences on P 5510 A1 S BEE 56 75 A
translation of foreign operations 320 (2,007)
Share of other comprehensive A A T 5 2 ) G A 42 T
income/(loss) of associates Wt (1) (46) 447
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AN S0l Al B Ol B »
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, B B %
NET OF TAX (16,606) 10,761
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  4F Py 8 4 i M 3%
FOR THE YEAR 120,743 163,041
Attributable to: BB .
Equity holders of the Company AN R R % 11 123,583 171,378
Non-controlling interests I I RE 25 (2,840) (8,337)
120,743 163,041

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Positi

&5 W OIR DL & _
31 March 2015 —“%—#iE=H=1—H
2015 2014
R —1AE “E g4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT T BHF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik U ) %
Property, plant and equipment L/ B & A ] 14 588,313 563,252
Investment property Eg//ES 15 20,125 19,958
Prepaid land lease payments TR 4 R R OE 16 106,578 109,645
Goodwill [k 3 17 36,812 36,739
Investments in associates RE S AR ZBE 19 180,679 164,391
Available-for-sale investments AR E 20 3,791 47,639
Deposits HES 23 32,600 21,424
Deferred tax assets HE JE A I 28 3,789 1,530
Total non-current assets I Bl B R A 972,687 964,578
CURRENT ASSETS i B ¥
Due from associates JRE Wk 7 2 ) 19 - 23
Inventories & 21 339,485 270,093
Trade receivables JE W 2 5 ek 22 534,758 494,499
Prepayments, deposits and other TS K ~ W7 A R A
receivables JRE Wik S 23 102,380 105,455
Tax recoverable w Wi [a] A JE 1,121 145
Financial assets at fair value through AP EE BB AR
profit or loss Fih 4 i 24 27,312 9,334
Cash and cash equivalents B4 B Bl & S IE H 25 857,587 745,823
Total current assets i B AR 1,862,643 1,625,372
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 14
Trade payables, other payables FEAT B 5 IR Ak~ ot
and accruals JRE A5k 3k T T ME 5 A 26 375,391 357,810
Interest-bearing bank borrowings R BT R B Z SR AT B 27 911,149 773,045
Tax payable JRE A B IE 22,183 21,031
Total current liabilities B A A 1,308,723 1,151,886
NET CURRENT ASSETS L W) B s v 553,920 473,486
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B A DU ) £ 0
LIABILITIES 1,526,607 1,438,064
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

& IR Ol R
31 March 2015 Z2—H4E=H=+—H
2015 2014
e S S ZE 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M7t BT o BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IR By £ %
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT R B Z SR AT B 27 80,551 60,284
Deferred tax liabilities I HE A5 T £ 28 20,712 19,095
Total non-current liabilities I B & AR 101,263 79,379
Net assets G 1,425,344 1,358,685
EQUITY i 2%
Equity attributable to equity holders B JB 0 AN 2 ) A
of the Company R EAGE
Issued capital T AT B AR 29 38,425 38,790
Reserves i HE 31(a) 1,336,012 1,266,555
Proposed final dividend R R B B 12 24,977 23,275
1,399,414 1,328,620
Non-controlling interests I B 2% 25,930 30,065
Total equity HE 25 418 1,425,344 1,358,685

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen # 75 '
Director & F

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson % & W

Director # F

—F - HOFE W

oW &% M oAF R oA A
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in

A NE 2R 5 B) %

Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BB AR R B
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital  Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluation  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital ~ account funds ~ reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits  dividend Total  interests equity
(it ¢} Rer aikhER  WARE  ELYS ERAN
Rk BER RS ERBE ARE WEMRE L fifl BRBIEA & G RBRER  RRER
Note HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000 — HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Wit #ETT BETLC O BNTL BETL BETT RETL OBFTL O BETL BETL BETL BETC RETL ERTE
(note 29)  (note 31(a)) (note 31(a) (note 31(a))
(Hit20) (Witsiw) (Hitsie) (Witsiw)
At 1 April 2013 REZZ-ZENMA—-H 3879 216506 7,193 23,368 750 4626 L166 115,147 777284 19395 1,04725 01T 12874
Profit for the year HE Al - - - 5 5 5 5 - 160,137 S 16003 (7857 152080
Other comprehensive EREbARE
income/(loss) for the year: Wi/ (B8) :
Changes in fair value of WhH ERE AT
available-for-sale investments, %8 > FrBifk
net of tax - - - - - 12,321 - - - - 12,321 - 12,321
Share of other comprehensive JEfhR 8 A A
income of associates EJLien - - - - = = = W = = “ S 4“7
Exchange differences on BT ER
{ranslation of B ER
foreign operations - - - - - - - (1,527) - - (1,527) (480) (2,007)
Total comprehensive income 4 A2
for the year - - - - - 1231 - (1,080) 160,137 - 171,378 (8337) 163,041
Acquisition of non-controlling WO B R
interests . - - - - - - 3515 (23.849) S030) 8220 (12110
Contributions by non-controlling 3¢ 4% B 45 1
interests = S S S S S 5 5 = = = 7,643 7643
Dividends paid to non-controlling  ELFF Pt MR IR
interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,478) (1,478)
Final 2013 dividend declared ~~ HR-F—-=HFXHRE = = = = = = = = - (19395 (19,39) - (1939)
Interim 2014 dividend ZE-BEPHRE 12 = = = = = = = = (1,758) = (1,759) - (1758)
Proposed final 2014 dividend ~ ZF-PEREXHRE 12 = 5 5 5 5 5 5 - M) B - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BRERES - - 303 - - - - - (303) - - - -
Release of revaluation reserve on -~ B L HRMF L
leaschold land and buildings to ~ EAE R ARRRE
retained profits B = S S (535) = = = = 535 = = = =
At31 March 2014 REZ-WEZA=+-H 3879  216506% T496% 23333 750+ 16947 L166*  117582% 882775 23275 1328620 30065 135868
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2015 #&ZE -2 —HAEZA=+— HILAEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BB AR R B
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluation  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Retained final controlling Total
capital  account funds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividend Total  interests equity
(it ¢} Rer aikhER  WARE  ELYS ERAN
Rk BER RS ERBE ARE WEMRE it fifl BRBIEA & ik RRRER  RRALK
Notes HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000 — HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Wit BETT BETT BERTL BETAL BRTL BETAL BRTL BETL BRTL BETL BETL BETL BETX
(note 29)  (note 31(a)) (note 31(a) (note 31(z)
(Hit20) (Witsiw) (Hitsie) (Hits1)
At 1 April 2014 REZ-WENA—H 3879 216506 7496 23333 750 16,947 L166 17582 882775 8275 1328620 30,065 1,358,685
Profit for the year HE Al - - - - 5 5 5 - I8 - I8 0836) 137,349
Other comprehensive EREbARE
income/(loss) for the year: Wi/ (B8) :
Changes in fair value of M ERE 2 ATE
available-for-sale investments, S8 » FRALf
net of tax - - - - - (16880 - - - - (16880) - (16880
Share of other comprehensive TE R A A
oss of associates 2TER - - - - = = S (46) = = (46) = (46)
Exchange differences on BB ER
{ranslation of IS
foreign operations - - - - - - - 34 - - 34 4 320
Total comprehensive income 4 A2
for the year - - - - - (16,880) - 78 140,185 - 123,583 (2,840 120,743
Acquisition of non-controlling BT R4
interests . - - - - - - | (579) - 657 64 (513)
Contribution by non-controlling ~ Je 4% B 45 1 &
interests - - - - - - - - - - - 157 157
Dividends paid to non-controlling &6 P B & it &
interests = = = S S S 5 5 = = = (1,516) (1,516)
Repurchase of shares A T 29 (365)  (17.205) S S = = 365 = (365) - (1757 - (17570
Final 2014 dividend declared ~ ER-F—WEKMME = 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 161 @205 (23114 AR
Tnterim 2015 dividend ZE-RERHRA ) - - - - - - - ) ) - 1159)
Proposed final 2015 dividend ~ “F-HERFXMRE 12 = = = = = = = -9y UIT - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BRERES - - 2332 - - - - - (2,332) - - - -
Release of revaluation reserve on 18§ £ R BT
leaschold land and buildings to ~ E SRR E
retained profits e = = = (535) = = = - 535 - - - -
At31 March 2015 ZE-HEZAEt-H /4B 199301 9828 22,798* 750% 67 1330 117861%  983876* 24977 1399414 25930 1425344
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of o HEMERATIAGAMBERRE PR Z A
HK$1,336,012,000 (2014: HK$1,266,555,000) in the consolidated 1,336,012,000# 7¢ (=% — P4 : 1,266,555,0003%
statement of financial position. ) o
TR - A E o WoW £ B OF R AR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mOoBeRa®

Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

2015 2014
e S K 2 “E—4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
At it BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING #MBEHZ B LR
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax W e iy ¥ A1) 184,550 191,948
Adjustments for: LR B 4 TE AR H A g
Share of profits and losses of associates A Wit 8 2 ] ¥ F I i 18 (4,108) (8,510)
Bank interest income |ATF B A 5 (2,360) (1,376)
Dividend income from listed WS ETHREZ
available-for-sale investments BB WA 5 172) (8,414)
Fair value gain on an investment WEWHEZATEW
property 5 (125) -
Fair value gain on available-for-sale GIE: R XS s /A O
investments W 2%
(transfer from equity on disposal) (H B IRF B 2 %) 5 (26,251) (24,182)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets AT EE BB ARN
at fair value through profit or loss EBREVEEZATE
MR, (st ) 5 6,052 (2,824)
Finance costs (L8292 % 6 15,538 15,185
Loss on disposal/write-off of items W8 M ¥~ W K&
of property, plant and equipment, net WRHEE Z B - B8 7 1,932 3,386
Depreciation e 7 57,062 55,069
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FEAT el L K I 2 R
payments 7 3,301 3,344
Impairment of available-for-sale W gt 3% 2 A
investments 7 - 418
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) JE W B 5 MR koA,
of trade receivables (T AF 43 el ) 7 (794) 60
Write-down of slow-moving inventories s B A7 B W 7 828 1,025
235,453 225,129
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due FEW S AT Z
from associates WA (K m) 23 (8)
Decrease in current livestock HHEE WAy - 179
Increase in inventories FEZHm (70,502) (17,885)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEW R S MRk
WA () (39,735) 8,193
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TEARIE - BT 4 KAl
other receivables JAE Wk T = B (8,180) (14,079)
Increase in trade payables, other payables FEAT & 5 MRk ~ - il FE £}
and accruals AR M HE B EUAE Z 3 17,760 22,465
Cash generated from operations REEBRBZBE 134,819 223,994
Hong Kong profits tax paid [BRRE R RSy i) (40,360) (36,294)
Overseas taxes paid LA 1 At 5 T (7,329) (6,305)
Net cash flows from operating activities REXEBZHERATFH
— page 63 - 63H 87,130 181,395
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 63

mablenE®

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

2015 2014
e 2k X2 “E g4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT T BT T

Net cash flows from operating activities REXBZHERATFH

— page 62 - 62K 87,130 181,395
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BERHZBER R

ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received CIRER AT R S 2,360 1,376
Dividends received from listed investments [T # & Z &£ B W A 172 8,414
Dividends received from associates W BB 28 o ) e S 398 2,990
Purchases of items of property, WAME -~ BE K

plant and equipment wHEH 14 (84,411) (59,364)
Proceeds from disposal of items of B -~ BE Kok

property, plant and equipment T H 53K 1 595 254
Proceeds from disposal of available- WA R

for-sale investments A5 3K 5 67,635 72,931
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HE#EA FEBMB R ARZ

at fair value through profit or loss 4 i E B A9 K 20,794 16,818
Investment in an associate R = AR ZBE 3) -
Loan to an associate BT BE A (12,597) -
Purchases of available-for-sale investments i A 7] f H £ % (14,416) (6,952)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value i A% A {7 M iH 2

through profit or loss AR Z &Rl & & (44,824) (11,316)
Increase in time deposits with original FEAERIHHZR=MA

maturity of more than Z 58 WA K

three months when acquired (81,930) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing WEEBEZBHERA GRH)

activities FH (146,227) 25,151
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING  @¥%EH 2 B4R &

ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans BT 4 SRAT Bk S S RO R Bk 2,157,949 1,721,179
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans $R4T 83k K15 iGN IE sk Z 8 3K (1,999,732) (1,743,784)
Interest paid [EEER DS (15,538) (15,185)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wik I 2 B B 25 (513) (12,110)
Contribution by non-controlling interests  JE 5 Bt 25 v & 157 7,643
Dividends paid oA RS (34,642) (27,153)
Dividends paid to non-controlling LA T Ik 5 B ORI S

shareholders (1,516) (1,478)
Repurchase of shares AR (17,570) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing ~ BAEIFBZBHERA GRH) HH

activities 88,595 (70,888)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH B & KB &%MH¥H

EQUIVALENTS 14 Jm i3 18 29,498 135,658
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning EHZHERBE&EMEEH

of year 745,823 610,724
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  [EXRZ B EE > FH

net 336 (559)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBEFMEA

AT END OF YEAR 775,657 745,823
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Consolidated Statemen-t of Cash Flows

A Blema R

i

Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

2015 2014
it S X 3 ZF N
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT BHF T
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF BERBESMHEH R
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Z b
Cash and bank balances B4 MRAT AT 25 470,375 484,918
Time deposits & W A7 K 387,212 260,905
Cash and cash equivalents as stated R M ER DR
in the consolidated statement FimZ &Rk
of financial position B4a%EEE 25 857,587 745,823
Time deposits with original maturity BEHEMEZR=MH
of more than three months Z MR
when acquired 25 (81,930) -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated HERSRBERNRNZ B4
in the consolidated KBl &%MEIEH
statement of cash flows 775,657 745,823
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Statement of Financial Position

Bt 5 ik DL %

31 March 2015 —2—H4E=A=+—H

2015 2014
R HAE R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it BT o T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS R o)
Investments in subsidiaries i AT P < 18 93,108 93,108
Available-for-sale investments Wt E R Y 20 177 248
Total non-current assets IR B A A 93,285 93,356
CURRENT ASSETS Ui Y
Due from subsidiaries JRE W R i 2 ) 18 682,941 677,777
Prepayments TE AT IH 23 191 139
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 SR AT A5 iR 25 878 470
Total current assets B A 684,010 678,386
CURRENT LIABILITIES i 0 13 4%
Due to subsidiaries A B} g 2 W) 18 448,612 429,063
Accruals FEFH £ A 26 1,480 1,465
Total current liabilities i B A 450,092 430,528
NET CURRENT ASSETS Ui B 233,918 247,858
Net assets BETH 327,203 341,214
EQUITY HE 23
Issued capital CEEAT B AR 29 38,425 38,790
Reserves Tt 1 31(b) 263,801 279,149
Proposed final dividend AR B B 12 24,977 23,275
Total equity HE 25 A {8 327,203 341,214

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ 55 !

Director & F

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson ¥ & W]
Director &%

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 e A W RE

Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at the offices of Sterling Trust
(Cayman) Limited, Caledonian House, 69 Dr. Roy’s Drive, P.O.
Box 1043, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman

Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in investment
holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,
beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham and ham-related

products, and the operations of restaurants.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, which because the Company
has not early adopted the revised Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), are those of
the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32).
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for an investment property, certain properties classified as
property, plant and equipment, financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss and certain available-for-sale investments
which have been measured at valuation or fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when

otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2015.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described in the accounting
policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements
% )& B RE
Year ended 31 March 2015 & E -2 —TH4E=H =1+ —HIL4E)E

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards and a new
interpretation for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKEFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011)

Investment Entities

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation
of Hedge Accounting

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies

Amendment to HKFRS 2
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 3
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 13
included in Annual
Improvements 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements 2011-2013
Cycle

Definition of Vesting Condition

Accounting for Contingent Consideration

in a Business Combination’

Short-term Receivables and Payables

Meaning of Effective HKFRSs

' Effective from 1 July 2014
The adoption of above revised standards and the interpretation

has had no significant financial effect on these financial

statements.
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HKFRSs

2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2011-2013 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments*

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture*

Investment Entities: Applying the

Consolidation Exception®

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations*

Regulatory Deferral Accounts®

Revenue from Contracts with Customers®

Disclosure Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation®

Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions'

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements’

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs!

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs!

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual

financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and

therefore is not applicable to the Group

Notes to Financial Statements
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O A AH R A B2 7 s B s

HKFRSs (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be

applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April
2018. The Group expects that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have
an impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets. Further information about the impact will be
available nearer the implementation date of the standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2016.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of
an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the relevant
principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3. The
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint
operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional
interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained.
In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to HKFRS 11
to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties
sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under
common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The
amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest
in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests
in the same joint operation. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016.
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2017 and is currently assessing the impact
of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements
in five areas, including materiality, disaggregation and subtotals,
notes structure, disclosure of accounting policies and presentation
of items of other comprehensive income arising from equity
accounted investments. The amendments further encourage
entities to apply professional judgement in determining what
information to disclose and how to structure the disclosure in the
financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2016.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle
in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating business (of
which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that are
consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-
based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and
equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances
to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group
upon adoption on 1 April 2016 as the Group has not used a
revenue-based method for the calculation of depreciation of its
non-current assets.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O A AH R A B2 7 s B s

HKFRSs (continued)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued
in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs.
Except for those described in note 2.2, the Group expects to adopt
the amendments from 1 April 2015. None of the amendments
are expected to have a significant financial impact on the Group.
Details of the amendments most applicable to the Group are as

follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity must
disclose the judgements made by management in applying the
aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including a brief description of
operating segments that have been aggregated and the economic
characteristics used to assess whether the segments are similar.
The amendments also clarify that a reconciliation of segment
assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the

reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;
(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and

receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated

at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is

included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or

loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition fair value and

any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss or as a change in other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion

of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best

interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and an investment property),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the

asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

()

(i1)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity or of a parent of the entity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts in
the financial statements relating to periods ended before 30
September 1995 are not required to be regularly revalued when
the Group does not revalue their property, plant and equipment
subsequent to 1995. An annual transfer from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is

transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms

Buildings 2% — 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% - 33'/3%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 25%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and building
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the investment property is stated at fair value, which

reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investment property are included in the statement of profit or loss

in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of the
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or

loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a

constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on

the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
and available-for-sale financial investments or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or

loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value presented as other income and gains and in the
statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in other

operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
club debentures. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor

designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement
of profit or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with

the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,

such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has
the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable

future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of

profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are

not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been

realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the

recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is

impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit of loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of
profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are

recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which

the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments

in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables

and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit

or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative

amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group invests in certain derivative financial instruments,
such as currency-linked deposits, to enhance its investment
return. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken

directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares)
are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the

consideration is recognised in equity.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2.4 LR BOR B (5)

£t MRk ]

M AEBLAT AT T BUAT Z SRR A DA G 8 O e ol &
WA BHF R A > o B A L R
UG ] AT > S0 G < vl S 7 D 4l £ 60 %
T B 5 5K D AR 2 R A

i A g TR

A58 B R A AT Ak TR () R e A
K)o DARTHHA G I o %A A SR TR
B ALET AT A A RE H 2 AR JER R
NP UG B o M A PR IES > TR T
H DB A MR o T2 PR 2 508> ISR
NI o R THZ APESE T REEZ B
HER AL -

JiE A7 B By

S o A 5 ) 2 Je M T A SRy ) 45 B AS AL e
o R R AR o AR - A - B
A7 SRk S AR B 2 JBHE B B 45 W 2 Sl B R
AE AR AR 2 o H T e SRR = 22 0P HE 25 v e

o

11

68 10 RAE e 7] 5 BLIRE 8 2 BAKH A
o LA DU IAEF ¥ 3t 5 AR EZ A
JRA ~ BERAR ~ A B B R B
TR 58 T E A 2 SE A AR o TR Bk e B R
R A J5 T > JRA G B ARE - AT R
0 A W e P 3 L o T 5 B TS I A R
BT 25 PR P R I th 5 1 5 B 2 UM At
o



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including

term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same

taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive

payment has been established;

(d) management fee income, in the period in which services are
rendered; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 12% to 22% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group may receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-

Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in
employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that

an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average

exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of

profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at

the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning

strategies.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Changes
to these key judgement and estimates could materially affect
the determination of whether there is an impairment and the
related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes in the
aforementioned judgement and estimates, it may be necessary
to record significant additional impairment charge in future
periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2015
was HK$36,812,000 (2014: HK$36,739,000). Further details are
given in note 17.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment that
should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss. During
the year, no impairment loss was recognised for available-for-
sale investments (2014: HK$418,000). The carrying amount
of available-for-sale investments was HK$3,791,000 (2014:
HK$47,639,000).

Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards. The Group makes its estimates
based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances, customers’
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so that the
actual impairment loss might be higher than expected, the Group
would be required to revise the basis of making the allowance
and its future results would be affected. At 31 March 2015, an
aggregate impairment of trade receivables of HK$2,650,000
(2014: HK$5,830,000) has been made and the carrying amount of
trade receivables was HK$534,758,000 (2014: HK$494,499,000).
At 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of deposits and other
receivables was HK$93,366,000 (2014: HK$85,275,000) and no
impairment loss was made (2014: Nil).
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has two reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles and
the retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages,

and the operations of restaurants; and

(i) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, poultry products, noodles, ham and ham-

related products, and the operations of restaurants.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
dividend income and unallocated gains, impairment of available-
for-sale investments, finance costs, share of profits and losses
of associates and corporate and other unallocated expenses are

excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable, investments in associates, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

4. BRI WER (B)

Geographical segments I B, 23 8
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
£ B il PN At
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“E—NE ZF-NE CR-LE ZFNE Z2-nfE ZFNE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
#WTL  EWFL EWTE  #¥FTT BT BFTT
Segment revenue: WA
Sales to external customers* HETIRE P 1,939,080 1,920,248 968,417 990,158 2,907,497 2,910,406
Intersegment sales W g 1,437 4,022 228,793 239,417 230,230 243,439
1,940,517 1,924,270 1,197,210 1,229,575 3,137,727 3,153,845
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment sales 1A 6 84 B 4 (230,230) (243,439)
Revenue KA 2,907,497 2,910,406
Segment results Vg F3 201,683 176,327 (7,864) 6,793 193,819 183,120
Reconciliation: HiE -
Interest income MEBA 2,360 1,376
Dividend income and unallocated B B B A 4
gains Kot 20,371 35,677
Impairment of available-for-sale B AR 2
investments = (418)
Finance costs AR (15,538) (15,185)
Share of profits and losses of JEEAK Tk 8 8 W ¥ A
associates KR 4,108 8,510
Corporate and other unallocated 2w R F A A A BB
expenses (20,570) (21,132)
Profit before tax W B i 184,550 191,948
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4. BB WER (B)

Geographical segments (continued) Tt B2y B (45)
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
£ | B il PN At
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“E—NE ZF-NE CR-LE ZFNE Z2-nfE ZFNE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
#WTL  EWFL EWTE  #¥FTT BT BFTT
Segment assets Vg 33 1,108,697 1,048,142 970,982 853,184 2,079,679 1,901,326
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment VA 0 B Wk T 8
receivables (318,628) (280,238)
Investments in associates RE AR Z R E 180,679 164,391
Corporate and other unallocated A BHA A 43 L
assets 893,600 804,471
Total assets B A 2,835,330 2,589,950
Segment liabilities Vg 3 328,661 290,320 365,358 347,728 694,019 638,048
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment VA 0 B A5 5 T G 88
payables (318,628) (280,238)
Corporate and other unallocated O] B R 2 L AR
liabilities 1,034,595 873,455
Total liabilities ARRE 1,409,986 1,231,265
Other segment information: Wb HE R
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  JEWC & 5 Wk
of trade receivables WA/ (L fE 38 D) (794) 17 - 43 (794) 60
Write-down of slow-moving i ibeate il
inventories 64 98 764 927 828 1,025
Depreciation and amortisation Pl R 23,072 22,329 37,291 36,084 60,363 58,413
Capital expenditure®* BEAR B 5+ 23,846 17,085 60,565 42,279 84,411 59,364
Non-current assets*** FeF B B A 196,248 197,096 555,580 532,498 751,828 729,594
* The revenue information above is based on the locations of the * DL NG RE T AR IR R 5 T A I e i 4 o
customers.
*#*  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and e WAL AIEREE - WERSE - A
equipment, prepaid land lease payments and investment property. MR BRI R s o
#*%  The non-current asset information above is based on the locations ek DL IR B 2 R T AR BE G T A I e T 1

of the assets and excludes financial instruments, deferred tax assets

and investments in associates.

4> AHSE A G Gk TR - B AE B B A KR
e AT Z B E -

O o WOW K OB AR A A
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS, NET

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the

invoiced value of goods sold, net of discounts and returns. An

analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is as follows:

5. WA - JUABIBOA B dE o

W AN B ACSE ] 2 8 e SR BR R T R &
R B 2 B o O~ oA A Tl

fi o WHZ MW

Group
£
2015 2014
e 2 X 3 ZE N
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT
Revenue WA 2,907,497 2,910,406
Other income Al B A
Bank interest income SRAT A B A 2,360 1,376
Dividend income from listed g RS R
available-for-sale investments 172 8,414
Rental income MEkA 1,246 1,215
Others Ho Al 4,640 4,279
8,418 15,284
Gains W2
Investment gains & Wk - 257
Fair value gain on an investment WEWHEZATEWL
property (note 15) (Btat15) 125 =
Fair value gains/(losses), net: AR (EH) » 8
Available-for-sale investments AR E
(transfer from equity on disposal) (H 8 IRF R 25 48 ) 26,251 24,182
Financial assets at fair value through T T H 75 38 18 f AR W 4 Rl&E &
profit or loss (6,052) 2,824
20,324 27,263
28,742 42,547
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. YA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: lE A AT T
Group
L]
2015 2014
BT R
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans ZE R LA ) A U R 2 SR AT R K
wholly repayable within five years 15 wE WO S AOR B 15,538 15,185
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BB kA
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AR 2 BRABLET A T ER S (BEA) ¢
(crediting):
Group
£ |
2015 2014
it 2 X 2 &
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
At it T T BT T
Cost of inventories sold CEFRZ A 1,866,167 1,914,278
Depreciation e 14 57,062 55,069
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FEAT A A kO i A
payments 16 3,301 3,344
Minimum lease payments under operating = b &% #5248 48 #l
leases in respect of land and buildings ~ Z I {KFL 4 173,164 160,309
Auditors’ remuneration % B T 4 3,874 3,863
Employee benefit expense (excluding B B A B S (A B s g
directors’ and chief executive’s B e i AT BN B 4
remuneration (note 8)): (K iEs)) -
Wages, salaries, allowances and TE ¥4 HEK
benefits in kind 4 1 A 323,296 309,970
Pension scheme contributions®** AR K 4w ) ke 16,831 17,728
340,127 327,698
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of iR ELE B
property, plant and equipment, net WHWIEHH ZEH > 1,932 3,386
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 58 25 52 > A (2,612) (2,003)
Rental income on an investment property 1% & #) 3£ Z #Hl 43 WA & #2
less direct operating expenses of 23 P 816,000 G
HK$816,000 (2014: HK$720,000) —Z—PU4E 2 720,000 T) (430 (495)
Impairment of available-for-sale w it H B R IR
investments® - 418
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) JE W B 5 R KA
of trade receivables* (Yl i 8% o ) 22 (794) 60
Write-down of slow-moving T8 17 5 g
inventories®** 828 1,025
*  The impairment/(reversal of impairment) of available-for-sale * o ATBEH O IR B IRk 2 DA, (e
investments and trade receivables are included in “Other operating JB]) O35 A A iR a8 36 b 2 [l 7 18 B 3 |
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. i o
#% At 31 March 2015, the Group had no forfeited contributions o RTFR-HAEZSHZ4—H o A R 4
available to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future kAT P AR AR AR AR A B B AR G Bk (2%
years (2014: Nil). —PU4E : JE) o
##%  The write-down of slow-moving inventories is included in “Cost of ek MRS CBEA GARER FXTHE
sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. AR e

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8.
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the disclosure
requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32), is as follows:

o0 e AT BN B 4

AR Y B R AT BON B A4 b A B % R
BN A RG] (5832%) Z B8 BLE AR 0 F B
%

Group
£H

2015 2014

ZF A R4

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Fees a4 673 720
Other emoluments: FLAth 19 4> -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 ~ 5 L E Y 35 7,817 8,186

Pension scheme contributions PR N 1 P 1 192 215

8,009 8,401

8,682 9,121

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) MIEPATH P
FRNCHRTELIERITERZAEWT ¢

2015 2014

e 2 X 3 “F—4

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Leung Mei Han I 80 80
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ e 80 80
Tsunao Kijima K 4 M 80 80
240 240

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2014: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive
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8. M W4T BN B4 (50

(b) BATH S BB AT H

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind  contributions remuneration
WA~ HEW Bk e

wa  REPA wl il 2 ¥ T A
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
HWEF o HWFF T HWFF T HWEF L

2015 ZR AR
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Wy 80 3,840~ - 3,920
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* e 3 80 1,440% 63 1,583
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCAK 80 = 4 84
Wu Wing Biu iR 80 1,113%* 55 1,248
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ 80 1,143%%* 55 1,278

Yip Wai Keung (retired on REEW (R ZF—WEN\A

28 August 2014) Z+\HEE) 33 281 15 329
433 7,817 192 8,442

2014 R4
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen wmw 80 3,840 2 3,922
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* e 80 1,440% 63 1,583
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis K 80 = 4 84
Wu Wing Biu K B 80 1,077%* 53 1,210
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [y 80 1,107%%* 53 1,240
Yip Wai Keung B iR 80 722 40 842
480 8,186 215 8,881

ook

EEE

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is an estimated rental of HK$3,840,000 (2014: HK$3,840,000)
for a director’s quarter owned by the Group.

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is a discretionary bonus of HK$270,000 (2014: HK$270,000).

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is a discretionary bonus of HK$90,000 (2014: HK$90,000).
Effective 1 April 2015, total annual remuneration, excluding
discretionary bonus, is HK$1,177,000.

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is a discretionary bonus of HK$120,000 (2014: HK$120,000).
Effective 1 April 2015, total annual remuneration, excluding
discretionary bonus, is HK$1,209,000.

Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also the chief executive of the
Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2014: Nil).

A A H5 R bl 3 4 - R R B R 35 5 A
SR BEAT A % 4 B AR A A B A
Z A 5L 4:3,840,0009 J0 (& — PU4E ¢
3,840,000 T ) °

o ARG AR A~ HE R B R 25 T g
FE41.270,000% 7C (= — PU4F: : 270,000%5
JG) °

s AR AR A HERG KX B R 2R 0
TEAE4190,0009 70 (= F—PU4E : 90,0009
Jt) o B —HAEWH —H B FE
S T A8 OF B 66 89 1 A6 A1) 251,177,000
WG °

e ALERR A~ EEl X B A 25 5
AB4L120,0009 70 (= F —PU4E : 120,000
Jt) o M B—HAEWH —HB » FE
3 I 48 R OR A 66 B9 15 46 A1) 251,209,000

fOWIRAL LR RAEEZ R ETRAR -
RN &S R AT BN B AR B

PR FE B ) B R BRI 4 (&
— YA ) o

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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9.

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2014: four) directors which included the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2014:
one) highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

o 35 M e v O R

> T I R O A DY AL S (B
BREITBAER) (224 : ) > ZEHES
Z RO B SCHERES o MR — L (2 F
A2 L) B O B (S R A4 R 2 e Bt
FATBN ) AR B2 SR F

Group
%M

2015 2014
S e
HK$’000 HK$’000
T o
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind % 4 ~ HtIE X EWF 35 2,640 2,713
Pension scheme contributions R4 5 ) 2 gk 96 96
2,736 2,809

The remuneration of the highest paid non-director and non-chief
executive employee fell within the band of HK$2,500,001 to
HK$3,000,000 (2014: HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000).

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2014: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

i I A IR AT B R B Z 4
42,500,001 # ¢ 33,000,0008 7 = 4L 71 (—
F— P4 ¢ 2,500,001 78 F£3,000,0004 50 ) ©

10. i 15 B

T Vs P A5 B G H A TR A 98 T A 2 Al R
R R $216.5% (ZF— U4 1 16.5%) Z BLRAE
HHE A o At b [ 2 M R 36 F1) < BEIE TG AR B8
AL BB AR R R BT
R -

Group
£ |
2015 2014
—RB T4 ZE A
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Current — Hong Kong Rk R

Charge for the year A A JiE B IH 40,654 33,906
Current — Elsewhere B — A s [

Charge for the year ARAF: BEBLIH 7,607 4,964
Overprovision in prior years A0 AR AT R 3 JE A A (390) (194)
Deferred (note 28) I (M it28) (670) 992
Total tax charge for the year ARAF PE 2 BABLIE 3 Y 47,201 39,668
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. B 73 B¢ (%5)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax FEER B AR 23 ) B A S A W AR B R ]
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the VA IR 2 W B R E B A B B i s A
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the Z B IE S R DL R OB R R S 2 B R S Hh
tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the W DL s AR (B 3k g Bl %) BLET PR Bl R
applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax WM -

rate, are as follows:

Group
£
2015 2014
“R-Tik —F—E
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
BT BT T

Profit before tax Wi B i ¥ 184,550 191,948
Tax at the applicable tax rates 5 P B AT L Z B 26,939 14.6 28,383 14.8
Adjustments in respect of current B 2 A T A S

tax of previous periods i (390) 0.2) (194) 0.1
Profits and losses attributable to JREAY Wi 28 2 W] ¥4

associates g (755) (0.4) (1,526) (0.8)
Income not subject to tax BERBLZ WA (421) 0.2) (1,571) (0.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax v AR BLIE i 2 32 2,449 1.3 2,525 1.3
Effect of withholding tax of 5% on MBS 0% AR 5L E

distributable profits of the Group’s Z R Z

subsidiaries in Mainland China AT R i A 2 63 - 114 0.1
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B Fi % A i [l 2 B JE i 40 (1,135) (0.6) (5,770) 3.0
Deferred tax assets not recognised A TR 2 9 A AT B 16,867 9.1 13,520 7.0
Others oAt 3,584 2.0 4,187 2.2
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  #% A< 4 [ B B Bl 3 51 450

Z B 47,201 25.6 39,668 20.7

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to HEAG W & A W) 2 B IE 352,492,000 00 (&
HK$2,492,000 (2014: HK$4,463,000) is included in “Share of —PY4E : 4,463,000 70) CRIFENEGHREE
profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of Z AL S ARG REER A -
profit or loss.
Certain subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China are entitled 2 A 8 A v ] K B 2 T B A T AT A A B
to preferential tax rates granted by the relevant authorities to AT T IEEBE o

these subsidiaries.
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11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2015 includes a profit for
the year of HK$38,272,000 (2014: HK$32,143,000) which has

been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note

11 A 2 il B % P A5 5 A ik )

BECZ-HE=ZA=Z+—HILEEZRAT
BE S B A % AL 52 A e M B 3% B 5 AR A
Z A i 8 Z AT N R A 38,272,000 06 (&
—PU4E : 32,143,000%78) (KF#E31(b)) °

31(b)).
12. DIVIDENDS 12. B &
2015 2014
—R 1A &
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Interim — HK3.0 cents T ] — B 2 3.0 il
(2014: HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZF— M4 - 2.081l) 11,528 7,758
Proposed final — HK6.5 cents e AR Y] — 4 T B 6. Skl
(2014: HK6.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZF— M4 : 6.0%Al) 24,977 23,275
36,505 31,033

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014
in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive

ordinary shares in issue during those years.
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13. 76 28 wi) 35 T 2 P A7 5 AV B Dk

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

A ()

(continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based B JB Je A T B A T AR R R A B e
on:
2015 2014
—R 1A TE A
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Earnings A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity il S e B AR e il ) B A 2
holders of the Company, used in the AR ) I JE A 25 TR A REAG )
basic and diluted earnings per share
calculation 140,185 160,137
Number of shares
ety ¥ H
2015 2014
- 2 X2 g
Shares JB By
Weighted average number of ordinary A R B AR R R 2 A
shares in issue during the year used B A7 35 7 B 2 I RE - 3 9
in the basic and diluted earnings per
share calculation 385,548,977 387,909,640
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s

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W 3¥ ~ W5 Xk i
Group YL |
Furniture,
Land and Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Motor  Construction
buildings ~ improvements equipment machinery vehicles in progress Total
1 M k- WG i
1 52 B KRk R fi ERTH Hst
HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES$ 000
#WT #W T #W T #WTr #W T #W T # T
31 March 2015 ZE-LEEHET-R
At31 March 2014 and RZZ-WEZAZT-HR
at 1 April 2014: CE-MERA-R
Cost or valuation RS 482,328 139,718 111497 220,763 50,959 15,126 1,040,391
Accumulated depreciation Btk (146,366) (62,938) (88.961) (142,735) (36,139) g (477,139)
Net carrying amount TR 335,962 96,780 2,536 78,028 14820 15,126 563,252
At 1 April 2014, net of REZ-MENA—H
accumulated depreciation e EE 335,962 96,780 2,536 78,028 14820 15,126 563,25
Additions E 1418 38,363 11,580 5573 4979 22,298 84411
Disposals/write-off e/ - (829) (393) (1,162 (143) = (2527)
Depreciation provided ERTHM
during the year bZiN (12,754) (18,906) (9.017) (10,440) (5,943) g (57,062)
Exchange realignment B m 161 k] (416) 11) 99 239
At31 March 2015, net of RZFZ-LEZAZT-H
accumulated depreciation REI ST 324,999 115,769 24,739 71,583 13,700 3153 588,313
AU31 March 2015: REF-BE=A=-0:
Cost or valuation Fk S 484,281 187,763 119,145 216,192 52,756 159 1,097,660
Accumulated depreciation AiHE (159,282) (71,994) (94,406) (144,609) (39,056) - (509,347)
Net carrying amount TR 324,999 115,769 24,739 71,583 13,700 31,53 588,313
Analysis of cost or valuation: A M7 :
At cost ik 399,281 187,763 119,145 216,192 52,756 3153 1,012,660
At 31 March 1994 valuation R=AAREZAZF—H
I 85,000 = = = 5 g 85,000
484,281 187,763 119,145 216,192 52,756 31,523 1,097,660
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 A B aE

Year ended 31 March 2015 #&ZE -2 —HAEZA=+— HILAEE

14. Y3 ~ W55 Be sl (%)

(continued)
Group ki Q0|
Furniture,
Land and Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Motor Construction
buildings  improvements equipment machinery vehicles in progress Total
4 ikt B i~ K ok
R kB RERAE 3 i ERTH it
HES 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
bid e bid e bid e bid e #WFr #WFI BHFT
31 March 2014 ZE-WEZHET-H
At 1 April 2013: RZF-ZENA—H
Cost or valuation BA B 480428 143,11 107,863 215,525 4100 1397 995,451
Accumulated depreciation ZiHhil (134,133) (50,195) (82,124) (134,107) (31,058) 2 (431617)
Net carrying amount W e 346,095 93,016 25.7%9 81,418 15,969 1,397 563,834
At 1 April 2013, net of RZF-ZENA—H
accumulated depreciation TR 346,095 93,016 25,739 81.418 15969 1,397 563,834
Additions E 2431 23,903 5,612 8,207 5,250 1393 59,364
Disposals/write-off il /8 5 (2,687) (686) (188) (19) S (3,640)
Depreciation provided EREHE
during the year bZiy (12,507) (17,195) (8.124) (10916) (6.321) - (55,069)
Exchange realignment Bt Q1) (257) () (493) Q) (203) (137)
At 31 March 2014, net of REF-NEZH=1-H
accumulated depreciation REIEY HEit 335,962 96,780 2,536 78,028 14,820 15,126 563,052
At 31 March 2014; RZFZ-WEZA=Z4—H:
Cost or valuation WA 1 48238 159,718 111497 20,763 50,959 15,126 1,040,391
Accumulated depreciation Btk (146,366) (62.938) (88.961) (142735) (36,139) = “77,139)
Net carrying amount TR 335,962 96,780 2,53 78,028 14,820 15,126 563,25
Analysis of cost or valuation: AR -
At cost Henk 397,38 159,718 111497 20,763 50,959 15,126 955,391
At 31 March 1994 valuation R=AAREZR=4-0
2t 85,000 = = = = = 85,000
48238 159,718 111497 20,763 50,959 15,126 1040391
SR — FOME OB o W OW O£ M oF R A A
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 3% > B Bt ()

(continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong and
buildings in Mainland China with a net carrying amount of
HK$324,999,000 (2014: HK$335,962,000) included above are
held under medium term leases and are situated in:

e A 5 [ A v 2 R b R A DA R
B K Bz i > WR T B 11324,999,000% I (=
F—PU4E : 335,962,0009 70) > 3% 5 B RLA
A AL A DA Ly

2015 2014
e S %o R

HK$°000 HK$°000

T BWTF o

Hong Kong s 153,543 158,550
Mainland China Ll N 171,456 177,412
324,999 335,962

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings, which are
situated in Hong Kong, were revalued at 15 July 1993, by C.Y.
Leung & Company Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers. The leasehold land and buildings were revalued at open
market value, based on their existing use. Since the year ended
31 March 1994, no further revaluations of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings have been carried out, as the Group has relied
upon the exemption granted under the transitional provisions in
paragraph 80A of HKAS 16 from the requirement to carry out
future revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which

were stated at valuation at that time.

A 455 F A 7 A 9 2 R B ke T AT > TR
—HIEEEHA I H BB S E ARG
fil 3% 4 S 0k A A PR 2 AR Y LA o AR
o e M T R BUAT I8 2 4 PR T 45 ik A
Bt e ABRE NN FE=ZA=Z+—HIEEE
A o p R AR AR R A 9 o H AR 1698 80A
B 2 M YLK Ao FE G AR DL R A A
MRz W3 ~ RGBS 3 AT TLAly > WSl JE AR
B M A TR ATE A

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. BB E
Group
EL
2015 2014
—® ik L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR W) Z W THI A 19,958 19,998
Gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) A F1H ¥ 2 W25 (M 7E5) 125 -
Exchange realignment FEE b, i) & 42 (40)
Carrying amount at end of year AR Z MR E 20,125 19,958
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The Group’s investment property represents an industrial
property in Mainland China. The Group’s investment property
was revalued on 31 March 2015 based on a valuation performed by
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, independent professionally
qualified valuers, at HK$20,125,000. Each year, the Group’s
finance team decides to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group’s finance team has discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is

performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property is leased to an associate of the Group
under an operating lease, further summary details of which are
included in notes 32(a) and 34(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are

included on page 168 of the annual report.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment property:

Notes to Financial Statements

15.

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

Be¥ X (4)

ARG Z B E Y — AR P B ORREZ T
EWE o ARMZBREWENR_FHFE=A
St R B S S A A R
174 R 2 ] e AT 2 Al T B % 20,125,00098
TG o FEAE 5 ACHRE M T s 1 B e AT A A
AL i 2 A5 0 F) g S AT A o SRR AT VE B 4
T 355 0 ~ R~ ML DA R M S EOK
e o (TR A 458 I 4 32 B 7 0 O 8 O
AT A B IR > A 558 1 Sy B 2 A Ik o LA o ) AR
A7 B A L P BB B A5 SR AT 0 o

BB W 3 DL RE B LA TE SO 7 AC 4R 2 I
O3] o A BRSO B A MY E32(a) B 34(a)
@iv) °

AR T 1 S 2 LA R U AR R SR 168 ©

AT
IELUES Y DU E RS Oey VL

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2015 using

B -TAEE N = B Z AP RR

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Wi mEAWBIK WA BE

Recurring fair value i 35 i 1 i A AFL F i A ¥
measurement for: OB—Js) (B —J8) GB=M) gy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
VLR H oy 580 P 2 Pt i BYTI YT BT T BT
Industrial property T¥EWE - = 20,125 20,125

R - HOH R R e

oW &% M oAF R oA A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 15. &5 W¥E (5H)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A TR (4

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2014 using

PEF-NEZH =+ HZ A FEG R

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

W ERWBE EAA B

Recurring fair value i 35 4 iy A\ AEL 4 i A A
measurement for: (55—Jd) (58 =) (56=M) &t
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
PLUF B H i &0 P A F G BT T BT o BT o BT T
Industrial property T¥ME = = 19,958 19,958

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into

or out of Level 3 (2014: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised within

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

— P4 : ) o

BN S RS T T S R A F R
s TS = A A S (2

BN AP E R SR = g 2 PR AT R R

Industrial

property

TRWE

HK$’000

BT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2013 ZR-ZHMA—HZREAE 19,998

Exchange realignment [ 58, i) 4 (40)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2014 and ZE-NUE=ZA=Z+—HRK

1 April 2014 RN A —H Z R E 19,958
Gain from a fair value adjustment recognised  F 1 25 Z H A A T W 25 CERR Z

in other income and gains in profit or loss AR L& 125

Exchange realignment R 5a, i % 42

Carrying amount at 31 March 2015 RE-R—HFE=ZA=Z+—HZIREE 20,125

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2015



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key

inputs to the valuation of the investment property:

Valuation technique

Significant unobservable inputs

Notes to Financial Statements

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

15. &Y% ()
BT R ()

B T 15 W A T A A B B0l e B
iy A\ G PR

Range or weighted average

A 4 5% ol K A 8L 1 A R T o T 3
2015 2014
—R A —F
Industrial property Direct Market rental value HK$26 HK$24
T¥ME capitalisation (per square metre and per month) 26% L 2470
method WG HAE (PR R A)
HiEE AR Term yield (per annum) 6.00% 5.75%
AR W 2R R (B4R
Reversionary yield (per annum) 6.50% 6.00%
Bl W AR R (4R

The Group has determined that the current use of the industrial

property is the highest and best use at the measurement date.

Under the direct capitalisation method, a property’s fair value
is estimated based on the normalised net operating income
generated by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation
rate.

A significant increase (decrease) in the market rental value would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property. A significant increase (decrease) in the term
yield rate and reversionary yield rate in isolation would result in a

significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment

property.

A SR [ CURE A % JE TR 36 H T & T wH
H Wz e Mot & -

MR E G A » YA P ETI R 3%
ife 5 2 2 B — A 3 2888 WO ik DA A b S
filiwt o

TG AL K HR S () Er S B HE W SE
AR MRS () o 18 47 T i R % 18 i
R KRB (D) & E BB E Y3 A F
B KW WA (3 m)

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. T AT 1 AL B %
Group
3L |

2015 2014

—R® T R4

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Carrying amount at beginning of year AR H) Z HR T AE 112,935 116,458

Recognised during the year AR T R (3,301) (3,344)

Exchange realignment FEE 56, i 2% 240 (179)

Carrying amount at end of year AR & TR THT AE 109,874 112,935
Current portion included in prepayments, B $E7E AT 30H ~ & K

deposits and other receivables At I UK T = 3 B 9 4 (3,296) (3,290)

Non-current portion I By FB 43 106,578 109,645

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments above relate to
leasehold land which is held under medium term leases and is
situated in Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group acquired J&
TR BER AR AT (“GZ Panxi”), which operates a restaurant
on a piece of land (the “Land”) in Liwan District, Guangzhou,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). At 31 March 2015,
the carrying value of the Land was HK$43,905,000 (2014:
HK$45,201,000). In the opinion of the directors, based on the
advice from the Group’s external legal advisors, GZ Panxi has
the right to use the Land and occupy the buildings thereon for its
restaurant operations, and upon the payment of the land premium,

the Group can obtain the land use right certificate for the Land.
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Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

—F - HOFE W

17. GOODWILL 17. B 5%
Group
eS|
HKS$’000
BT T
At 1 April 2013: P_F-Z=ZHMYA—H :
Cost A 40,101
Accumulated impairment Bt (3,292)
Net carrying amount IR T 36,809
Cost at 1 April 2013, net of accumulated W —Z4NH—HZEA
impairment L1 B Bk 36,809
Exchange realignment T 58, 3 4 (70)
At 31 March 2014 REZF—-WE=A=1+—H 36,739
At 31 March 2014: RoZF—NE=ZA=+—H:
Cost A 40,031
Accumulated impairment B eiE (3,292)
Net carrying amount e T 3 E 36,739
Cost at 1 April 2014, net of accumulated PR —NENH—HZ A
impairment O30 B B 5 A 36,739
Exchange realignment i 58, ) 73
At 31 March 2015 REF—-HhFE=ZA=1+—H 36,812
At 31 March 2015: HEF-HE=H=1—H
Cost LEN 40,104
Accumulated impairment R EHE (3,292)
Net carrying amount HIR T A 36,812

oW &% M oAF R oA A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE
17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units is as follows:

Trading business

2015 2014 2015

SE-TE ZR-mE 25 ZF-nE
HKS000  HKS'000 — HKS'000  HKS'000
EHFr BEFL BT BETT

GZ Panxi operation

UES | B

17. ¥ % (80
2 5 0 3

43 S 2 B 4 A A B AL T B 2 R TR A
T

Poultry business Others Total
ES £ K it
2015 2014 2015 2014 015 2014

CE-TE ZR-mE ZB-fE CF-NE O ZR-0k CF-nE
HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS000  HKS'000 — HK$000  HKS'000
EFL  BEFL ElEL EETT BREL EETL

Carrying amount of goodwill ~ F&Z IR fA 17,808 1.7 12,79

4,22 4218 1,981 1981 36,812 36,739

GZ Panxi operation and trading business cash-generating units

The recoverable amounts of the GZ Panxi operation cash-
generating unit and the trading business cash-generating unit
have been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 13% (2014: 13%). The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of both cash-

generating units beyond the five-year period is 0% (2014: 0%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the GZ
Panxi operation cash-generating unit and the trading business
cash-generating unit for the years ended 31 March 2015 and
2014. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake

impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,

increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices

during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.
The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected

efficiency improvements, discount rates and purchase price

inflation are consistent with external information sources.
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ZMBLE L 13% (ZF— WA 2 13%) o M
B4 7 2k B B SAE 0T ) 2 B4 T B B R
REWH R0% (ZF— N4 : 0%) o

Mt AR E—F-HLFER-F-HFE=H
St HOR AR R BB SR B A A AL
B S 5 3 5 B 4 2 B 2 3 AR D4R AR AR
B o DL 4 A L A ) B 4 30 T B W 4R AN
Z & E BB AHEAT P W

HSEFF — L A B R Z iz
W RIS AR B — R U P BRI
Sl 8 DA T 28R 9 T i 9

HEBE A — PR 2 B BUR T BRBUAT > HLR e B
A B AT A B < A1 o L B

TR 15 L 3 — 7 3 R A% bk 2 P B e T 3%
TESTAE B A B AR U 2 TEL O (R A 4 A
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17. GOODWILL (continued)

18

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Poultry business cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the poultry business cash-generating
unit was based on fair value less costs of disposal. Consistent to
the external sources of information, management regards that the
prices of the land relating to the poultry business cash-generating
unit, being the most sensitive to its recoverable amount, is the
key assumption to the determination of fair value less costs of
disposal of this cash-generating unit. The land of the poultry
business cash-generating unit was valued on 31 March 2015 by
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, independent professionally
qualified valuers, using the direct comparison approach. This
means that the valuation performed by the valuers is based on
active market prices, significantly adjusted for the difference in
the nature, location or condition of the specific land.

Based on the significant inputs used, the fair value measurement
is categorised as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. During
the year ended 31 March 2015, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
following significant unobservable input was used in determining
the fair value of the land.

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

17. ¥ % (8
2 9 0 3 (80)

E EY R R

PR E X E R R R TR LR Y 3
O3 PR S AR T 5 o A B R R SR A
s B 4 A B R 2 et R B T i I Ak I
R AR B s AR > MR e DL B A WA 2
O {E U B AR 2 2 BB - L BN R R
B RBEBFHeEARMZ LHORZF
—HAE=A = A H i A Al
WIERATAH R A R 4R B B AT A -
UMb 73 415 A L Pl A A7 A B 7 % 455 1 i 55 U A
ARG 2 MR A IR L2 2 R AR
CONE .3

HLHR i 4% 2 R A > A B A P e R AR
AFHERENSBRBEZE - BE R 1L4F
SHE4HIRSRE > S R T Z
HEWRS 2 FE R > TSR = 3 2 A
ZHEP o FEREE L2 ACPERE > LT ERA
B AR

Significant unobservable valuation input: TR A W] 98 4% Al B o A\
Range
i 1
2015 2014
ZE-nA “R-NE
Price per square metre HK$369 to HK$814 HK$331 to HK$513
CRWES L 3693 ¢ E814% BB ES 13T

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated price per square
metre would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value.

il A 07 R AR KR S () & B BAF
fEXE LT CRRE) o

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 1. A B A Al 2 H#E
Company
A

2015 2014
e S S TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T o T T
Unlisted shares, at cost I b B > R BAE 93,108 93,108

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and current liabilities respectively are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

5B 25 0T B R 4 0 P 2 M M
o PO 24 0 O S~ o o LB TSR
B o

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

18. 7 WY )& 2 vl 2 B ¥ (7))

A8 T 2 45 I A RN T

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
2% £6) A2 o) B AV 2
(R Ve W ik HAl
4 il kBB B S R AR H# Il & FERH
Cowboy Food Company Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing
Limited ik 6,000,000 JC of peanut products
FAFR A RAR TEA: & i B
Crowne Profits Limited* British Virgin Uss1 - 100.0 Investment holding
[slands 1378 K&V
S IR LT B
E-Options Technology Limited* British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Property holding
Islands [ET LIESY)
bd ) aeils
Eat & International (H.K.) Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 - 51.0 Restaurant operations
Co., Limited i 11,500,0009 & RERE
KB E A BRA ]«
Ever Media Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
i 17T BBV
Fancy Talent Limited* Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing of snack foods
FRWAH A A i 100,000,000% 7 UN-FAIE
i3
Four Seas Enterprises British Virgin US$20,000 100.0 - Investment holding
(BVI) Limited* Islands 20,0003 7t B M
£y el
Four Seas Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 100.0 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 10,0009 7t REE R
U4 A R A
Four Seas China British Virgin US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Holdings Limited* Islands 1,000,0003& 7¢ BE VW
VG 4 R4 A A ] B i I LT B
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. BB A vl 2 Be ¥ (%)

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

AR F Z EEEHE AR T 2 ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A2 o) HE AV R 2
R Yve Wk HAW
H il kBB B B4 R B A H# % FEEH
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary HK$200 - 100.0 Trading in snack foods,
a5 A A B (ii) Non-voting deferred confectionery
HK$20,000,000 and beverages
(i) 78 IR 200% 7c N BER K
(ii) JE 8 Bz B 5
JEAE I
20,000,000% 7
Four Seas Property Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 50,000,000% 7t BB R
VG 9 A R
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$28,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Company Limited* A Mainland China 28,320,000% G of cakes
S O SR RAT A ] A v, of K B ERERE
Four Seas (Suzhou) PRC/ US$16,500,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Food Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 16,500,0003% 7t of beverages
VI (B ) B A R ] A i R K B Bk Bk
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods PRC/ HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Industrial Park Management Mainland China 30,500,000%% 70 ESA
Co., Ltd.* A K B
PO (il ) & i TR
BB WA A
Four Seas (Yang Shan) PRC/ HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Mainland China 20,000,000% G VIES(Y)3
Limited* * Ll DN
PO (53 0Ly ) 55 g A R )
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) PRC/ HK$96,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* 7 Mainland China 96,000,000% JC confectionery and
DY £ 5 UEE) A BR A 5]+ A K food products
BER A B
285

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

18. J/% B )i 2 vil 2 e ¥ (4)

AR T Z EEEHE AR T 2 ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A2 o) HE AV R 2
R Yve Wk HAW
H il kBB B S R AR H# Il & ER =37
Four Seas (Hebei) Food PRC/ HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing
Company Limited * 7 Mainland China 24,000,000% G of chestnuts
VU At ) B b ] A v, of K B ErmLT
Four Seas Logistics Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0 Provision of
Company Limited bR 200,000% 7C transportation services
VG R T
Four Seas Catering Enterprises Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Company Limited EoRli3 10,0009 72 BB R
POk A RRA
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$12,000,000 - 80.0 Manufacturing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* * Mainland China (2014: HK$7,000,000) of snack foods
DB (RN A R A 7] A il VA PN 12,000,000% 7¢ NS
(24
7,000,000 7T )
Four Seas (Qingyuan) Tourism PRC/ RMB20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Limited* ~  Mainland China \ B:%20,000,0007¢ and restaurant operations
VO (3 2 ) B 3 8 e v of K B WEH R
HRRA T« A BRESE
Guang Dong Fourseas PRC/ RMBS55,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Frozen Food Products Mainland China (2014: RMB35,300,000) frozen food
Co., Ltd.* A g vk B AR #55,300,0007G products and
JEE SR 4 AR (ZF—N4: snack foods
FRRA T A A R #35,300,00072) R K
MEZHEY
Guangzhou Four Seas Catering PRC/ HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China (2014: HK$7,500,000) operations
M T A R i VA PN 24,000,000% 7 RERE
(24
7,500,000 7T )
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

18. J/% B ) 2 vil 2 B ¥ (4

AAF Z EEEHE AR T ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A ) MEAY B 2
ik S BBk HAW
H il kBB B R e Ak H# % TR
Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering PRC/ HK$6,000,000 - B3 Restaurant
Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 6,000,000% JC operations
FM 3 ) AR A R AR A v, of K B BRBERE
Hong Kong Confectionery Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Company Limited Pl 7,000,000% 7 B
bR A A
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Limited il 20378 and packaging
Vs R B A PR ) of ham and
ham-related
products
W R ek
S B A
KB
Hong Kong Biscuit Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment holding
(International) Limited* il 40,000,000 7t B
B (B B) F R A 5«
Homeright Properties Limited* British Virgin USS$1 - 100.0 Holding of trademarks
R A A ] Islands 1370 R
£y &gl
IFSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment holding
i 57.200,000% 7 B
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
KR LA HRAR i 1,000,000% 72 food materials
BB S
KTC Corporation* Japan JPY10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in cakes
JoG 5 5 7 o A o A HA 10,000,000 H ERE S
Four Seas Candy Company Limited Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
YRR A R it 50,550,000% 7 B e
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

18. J/% B )i 2 vil 2 e ¥ (4)

AR T Z EEEHE AR T 2 ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A2 o) HE AV R 2
R Yve Wk HAW
H il kBB B S R AR H# Il & ER =37
Four Seas Candy (Shantou) PRC/ HK$50,203,380 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* 7 Mainland China 50,203,380% JC of candies
VL SR R B A 2 v of K B BERBE
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0 Restaurant operations
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited B 3,660,000 7C RERE
DEK LR HRAT
Li Fook (Qingdao) PRC/ US$3,970,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Foods Co., Ltd.* 7 Mainland China 3,970,0005% JC of noodles
PR (5 &) RAHRA T A iR UE
Luck Healthy Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 = 100.0 Property holding
il 1T B ST
Matchless Bakery Company British Virgin HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Limited* Islands 20,000,000% ¢ BE B
A S G B A ] 5 JB I A B B
More Ways Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
ZREFEAMAF i 10,0009 72 B
Men Taishou Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
PN XL YA i 1 RELE
Namtien Noodle Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
FI R WA 7]+ B 1,000¥ 70 of noodles
R E
New Kondo Trading Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in Japanese
Company Limited iR 1,000,000 7¢ food materials
ETEE S A WA H AR fh
SRR 5
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) PRC/ HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China 28,000,000% 7C of seaweed products
P B Gl ) A7 A ] A o K B 3971 3
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

18. J/% B ) 2 vil 2 B ¥ (4

AR T Z EEEHE AR T ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A ) MEAY B 2
ik S BBk HAW
H il kBB B B4 R B A H# % TR
Nico-Nico Four Seas Company Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Investment holding
Limited i 28,000,000 7 BRI
O 1179 A7 A
Okashi Land (Macau) Macau MOP500,000 - 100.0 Retailer of
Company Limited* WM 500,0003 ] [H] snack foods
B (P A WA ]+ MEZEE
Papochou Holdings Limited* British Virgin HK$15,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
TG EA A Islands 15,000,000 7& /8 <80d.e
5 A
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
i 3,200,000 7& RERE
Shenzhen Matchless Food PRC/ HK$12,300,000 - 100.0 Bakery and factory
Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 12,300,0003% 7C operations
FINFKA DR o R K B T B 0 0 B
R A TRz 8E
Sushi Pro Limited Hong Kong HK$9,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
HARHRAF i 9,000,000% 7 /8801
Shousihuang Restaurant PRC/ HK$7,300,000 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
(Shenzhen) Mainland China 7,300,000% 7t BRERE
Company Limited* * R K B
2R (I
R A
Tohato Four Seas Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 80.0 Investment holding
Company Limited Pl 7,000,000% G i3 gLl
MG 7Y A7 R A
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) PRC/ HK$53,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing
Biscuit Factory Limited* » Mainland China (2014: HK$13,000,000) of biscuits
B8 CEN) B i i VR PN 53,000,000% ¢ B s
A % A (ZF— N4
13,000,000 7¢)
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

R E A 2 B ()

AR T Z EEEHE AR W ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A2 o) HE AV R 2
(3 Vv Wk HAW
H il kBB B S R AR H# % ER =37
T & M Advertising Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising agency
Company Limited B 20%C oA
PERB S A RA
R E 5 A A A PRC/ RMB500,000 = 100.0 Trading in
Mainland China A B#500,0007 confectionery
g vk and food products
BER R
BMZHY
VI £ G 30) AR ] A PRC/ HK$10,000,000 = 100.0 Manufacturing
Mainland China 10,000,000 7C of snack foods
o K B MR
pALRITEE L R YA PRC/ HK$37,000,000 = 100.0 Manufacturing
Mainland China 37,000,000% G and packaging
R K R of ham and
ham-related
products
WER A%
KBERA B
KB E
LR 2 B A LA ] A PRC/ HK$13,000,000 = 100.0 Poultry business
Mainland China (2014: HK$8,000,000) REEH
i VRl PN 13,000,003 7t
(ZZ—4:
8,000,0003 72 )
B 7 T K LA T PRC/ RMB73,959,210 = 99.0¢ Restaurant operations
Mainland China A R #73,959,2107¢ RERE
VAP
JE N T 3 R LR PR A R+ A PRC/ RMB6,500,000 = 100.0 Raising
Mainland China A\ R#6,500,00078 and sale of peafowls
o K B i 4 e 5 B
LEXH
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

18. J/% B ) 2 vil 2 B ¥ (4

AR T Z EEEHE AR T ()

Percentage
Place of Issued ordinary/ of equity
incorporation/ registered attributable
registration and fully to the Company Principal
Name and business paid-up capital Direct Indirect activities
3% £6) A ) MEAY B 2
ik S BBk HAW
H il kBB B R e Ak H# % TR
B 5 (YD) A A A PRC/ HK$5,600,000 = 100.0 Trading in food
Mainland China 5,600,000% JC materials
v of K B BRIBZH 5
VRN TY B 5 A R = A PRC/ HK$30,000,000 = 100.0 Trading in
Mainland China (2014: HK$20,000,000) snacks and
i/ R K B 30,000,000 7t confectionery
(ZZF—N4: MERZGZH S
20,000,000% 7¢)

R - HOH R R e

oW &% M oAF R oA A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

& Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

*#*%  Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and accordingly, is
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control

over it.

" These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under PRC law.

AN This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint
venture under PRC law.

Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the Group
and M T 7% ¥ N ROBOR BT & B B BSBLUR (the “Vendor™)
for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains 1% shareholding
in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of the profit or loss
in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the operation or
management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the following:

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi
other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

During the year, the Group acquired an additional 39.5% equity
interests of certain non-wholly-owned subsidiaries for a cash
consideration of HK$513,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group acquired
the remaining equity interests of certain non-wholly-
owned subsidiaries for an aggregate cash consideration of
HK$12,110,000.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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18. J/% B ) 2 vil 2 L ¥ (4)

AN

3 I Hh A 4 K B B T Rk A BRI A
Ho bk 5 2 B B

B FFA LK EARAFBARF —~RIERE
Pt I 2 Wl Z W g A R o LB A A R I
J2 0 BE A B0 A0 D 8 ) o

0% S AL g A ) 75 4 v A A e A
i3 o

%

% B 2 ) T 4% v B e T R A A i3

R 4 A 45 o) B T A N IR B A
BB A BN (5 7 1) 0 O 2 T o 2 i
JB ik BT AR B 1% 2 S M PR R SRR > B
R 43 255 B N PR 2 A o ¥ ) s 4R o A e 2
BT P AR O B M R B A R
P

— ST RN IR IR N T I B %
Bl s

— RPN PR AN 2 M A T 3 5K
RBUSZ & s R

- BRI -

ER - REFRESTIEXEHEEHBARZ
HAN39.5%HE2E > B4 RAE %513,0009 IC -

RBREZFZ-NE=ZA=Z+T—HILEEHN > K
4 1 MO A T R 2 A B R A ) 2 B T B

%

BB 4 A 512,110,000 0 o

AR R DL LR R A A B AR R R

S A R TR A A T e

AT ER W SR T MR 2 R R
WA I -



19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to Financial Statements

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

19. A B A vl 2 B H

Group
£

2015 2014
e S % 3 e S UiE: S
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Goodwill on acquisition P W J e e T 477 477
Share of net assets JRE AW % g W 167,605 163,914
168,082 164,391
Loan to an associate BT B E A 12,597 -
180,679 164,391

The loan to an associate is unsecured, interest-free and has no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, the

loan is considered as part of the Group’s net investment in the

associate.

In the prior year, the amounts due from the associates included

in the Group’s current assets were unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with the

associates are disclosed in notes 22 and 26 to the financial

statements, respectively.

S00T I 25 8 s SIEHEAT ~ S R 0
01 o S o AT R A 5 D T
T 2 R o

R > FITA AR 3 ) B T WO 4 A R R
AR AR - 508 > HHIRZRE K -

I 45 (B SO 4 0 ) 2 M A B B R kA
E 43 Bl R A0 s B s i o B k22 5% 26 o

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBEEAFSEOT
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activities
OB RNV 7 45 T AN
R e By 3 4 X B R BARERE R T A LURH
Calbee Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited 598 B B of snack foods
F4EBEU WA IR A MR
7Y 9 A P A U A PR R © Paid-up capital PRC/ 50.0 Manufacturing
BOR Ak Mainland China of snack foods
LT PRl PN MR
Guangzhou Meiji Paid-up capital PRC/ 30.0 Manufacturing
Confectionery Company BRBA Mainland China of snack foods
Limited ®@® o ok and confectionery
B B3R RARAT IR A 5] 00 UN-Y ST

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: (continued)

19. BB A 2 B ()

TR

AFFEHEWMT ¢ (8)

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activities
RHC#T RN 7 4 T M A
R JBe By ¥ X B R BARERE R T A LEEH
Meiji-Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
Company Limited @ Sgille R Eid=gcdlie
W16 YA A R o
Want Want Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
Company Limited @@ 08 il snack foods
TEE P G 2 ) oo NEH S
Lotte Four Seas Limited @ Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
SR WA B A O W B B B
Thai Okashi Land Ordinary shares Thailand 14740 Investment holding
Holdings Ltd. 06 of THB10,000 each £ B e
5 B 10,0004 8%
Z
Thai Okashi Land Ltd. @ Ordinary shares Thailand 22,20 Retailer of
of THB10,000 each M snack foods
5 B £10,000%8 % MEZEE
Z ¥
Cheers Cafe Limited @ Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
BRERERAR O 8 LR e <Lt
B 98 TR BT B A ) O Paid-up capital PRC/ 30.0 Restaurant operations
B e Ak Mainland China RERE
Gl VPN
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Notes:

(i)  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

(i) The financial years of these associates are not coterminous with
that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December.
These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date
to conform with their holding companies’ reporting date or statutory

requirements.

(iii) Thai Okashi Land Holdings Ltd. and Thai Okashi Land Ltd. are
subsidiaries of Lotte Four Seas Limited and, accordingly, are
accounted for as associates by virtue of the Group’s significant
influence through the Group’s shareholding in Lotte Four Seas
Limited.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with
that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note
(ii) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are
adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year
end date and the Group’s year end date.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

of the Group’s associates that are not individually material:

Notes to Financial Statements

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

19. BB A 2 B ¥ ()

Wik

() 3k Hh A KR B T R R ok A BR A A
Ho bl 5 2 B %

(i) % S g8 2 R B B4R R B AR AR R R
HMBAEEGH AR ZA=Z1—H - &%
TZA=ET— BB A A B A
A B B W 2 R T R AT o

(iii) Thai Okashi Land Holdings Ltd.}%Thai Okashi
Land Ltd. ) %5 4 K DU A7 KR w) 2 B &g 2+ »
P I 75 s A 445 1 7 4% 5% U 9 A PR A ] 2 B i
R 2 TR 5B 1 B A T A ] e

TR DA R A AR B R 2 A
R B AN A T 2 TR 4 R 2
AT > EER WS ER T B A R 0 iR
WA IR -

b e T ) 2 A R B A S R A B B
Hy— > M b SRR RGBT A 2 I A ] B
B o kB A R AN S B A 4 T B B4
R H Z W Z TR A oy A i 2 o

TR A S 9 7 35 7K 062 2
At R -

2015 2014
—R AR —F N
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T BT T
Share of the associates’ profit R A T 8 A ) 4 1A ¥ )
for the year 4,108 8,510
Share of the associates’ other JRE A Bt 2 24 ) b 2 T MRS (R 4R
comprehensive income/(loss) (46) 447
Share of the associates’ total R A i 8 A ) 4 2 T A
comprehensive income 4,062 8,957
Aggregate carrying amount of the 7 45 A gk 4 8 W) 2 B
Group’ s investments in associates A8 R T E 180,679 164,391

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

20. W 4% i A B ¥

INVESTMENTS
Group Company
£ | |
2015 2014 2015 2014
—F—-hF —“F-NE F-LF “F-IE
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W T o BT T BT T
Listed equity investments in s LSRR Y
Hong Kong, at fair value A TE 431 44,579 177 248
Club debentures, at fair value SR A TE 627 327 — =
Unlisted equity investments, RS
at cost WA 2,733 2,733 - -
3,791 47,639 177 248

During the year, the net gain in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$9,371,000 (2014: HK$36,085,000), of which a
gain of HK$26,251,000 (2014: HK$24,182,000) was reclassified
from other comprehensive income to the statement of profit or

loss for the year.

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and

have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

In the prior year, there was a significant decline in the market
value of certain listed equity investments. The directors
considered that such a decline indicated that the listed
equity investments were impaired and an impairment loss of
HK$418,000, which included a reclassification from other
comprehensive income of HK$418,000, was recognised in the

statement of profit or loss in the prior year.

As at 31 March 2015, certain unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of HK$2,733,000 (2014: HK$2,733,000) were
stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the
opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The
Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.
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AR > AR AR [ I At 2 T W 2R W SR R 4k
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A 2T AR T EESEE -
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Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

21. INVENTORIES 21. ## 18
Group
£

2015 2014

e S % 3 e S UiE: S

HKS$’000 HK$’000

BT o

Raw materials J5 OB 104,951 43278
Work in progress 21 14,772 9,179
Finished goods S 219,762 217,636
339,485 270,093

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20, BE W BT 5% G ik
Group
£

2015 2014

e S S e S 111 F2 S

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT o o

Trade receivables FEWE 5 iRk 537,408 500,329
Impairment T AE (2,650) (5,830)
534,758 494,499

AR EE R P Z SR DR 8% 3 > W&
F—Bw EHeA K o AR kA —E=M
HoBMELEEFWE - TERENERMA -
A% P A 5 R _E R o ARG R B 5
1] 2 1 R R MR AR T o A LA A DL e e
iR o AR LG & AR Ra B AR - B
T L > DA B AR B T M AR 5 Rk R
Z % AL % P A B o PRI S R AR
JE I o A 5% R SIS R % 45 G AR R A A A IR
s H Al A R T - MIUH B IRFKTIR B

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2015 &£ =2 —HAEZA=+—HILEE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

22, HEWCE B MRk (78)

TP IR > AR ST AT B A B R A 2

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, B OERZERSHWT
is as follows:
Group
EL

2015 2014
—F—-TE k2
HK$’000 HKS$°000
BT T T T
Within 1 month ME A AN 208,203 213,314
1 to 2 months 1226 A 90,325 86,030
2 to 3 months 2Z3MH A 101,693 85,510
Over 3 months A AU E 134,537 109,645
534,758 494,499

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

JE W S 5 MR ok < WA A Z S B B DL AN

Group
3L |

2015 2014

it S K ZE WA

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

At beginning of year HAEH) 5,830 6,454

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) TR (3 ) 8 e 11

(note 7) (HH7E7) (794) 60
Amount written off as uncollectible L6855 A 1 3 W Il 2 Ak IR (2,386) (684)

At end of year AR 8 2,650 5,830

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$2,650,000 (2014: HK$5,830,000) with a
gross carrying amount before provision of HK$2,650,000 (2014:
HK$5,830,000). The individually impaired trade receivables
relate to customers that were in default or delinquency in

payments and are not expected to be recovered.
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered

to be impaired is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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22. MEWC B B WAk (5)
B 2 oA R 1 2 R BT S5k 2 B A BT

Group
£ 3|

2015 2014
e S K 2 e S U2
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Neither past due nor impaired S 41 745 401 5 vk L 510,139 474,313
Less than 1 month past due A — i A 19,174 14,358
1 to 3 months past due W —Z2Z = A 3,931 4,669
Over 3 months past due W =M ALk 1,514 1,159
534,758 494,499

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully

recoverable.

Included in trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group’s associates of HK$1,415,000 (2014: HK$1,320,000)
and a subsidiary of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings
Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
of HK$231,000 (2014: HK$254,000), which are repayable on
similar credit terms to those offered to the major customers of the
Group. The trade receivables due from the subsidiary of HKFH
are in accordance with the master supply agreement entered into
between HKFH and the Company, details of which are included

in the Company’s announcement dated 6 August 2012.

3 48 26 300 s O AL 2 B SR T 9 D A 0 O A4 R
BZRKEBAFREF -

0 90 4 N AR R AL 2 B Wk T 9 % A 4 4 T
BB R ZEF o BB ELLER > Ao
ERRR > HRZEARZFREREERLX
B > %S R BRI s T 2 R > MO 2R
A th o1 A o

JRE WA B 5 W ok A 55 A 4 [ 0k 4 8 W A R 2 kI
1,415,000% 50 (= F—MY4E : 1,320,000% 58 ) K
AAF—ZFEBRREBEHBREEBRERA
A ([7F & ) g — P B 2 W) 45 R Z 3k00H
231,000% 6 (=8 — PY4E : 254,0008 70) » i
BB EAREEE PR EER P HSRYH
Al o v 2 i Z B 2 W) 465 X 2 E WL B 5 MR 3k
T AR Vs £ i B A ) BT 3 2 3 B
FIoL > HFERE IR AR A F ZF—ZFN\HAN
HZAdEEE -

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 23, FEAT AKX ~ W) 4 B 3L fib ME ek I
OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
£ | |
2015 2014 2015 2014
SR CFWE SR G RN
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT W T T T

Prepayments TE AT I 41,614 41,604 191 139
Deposits and other receivables w4 T At I WA T 93,366 85,275 - -
134,980 126,879 191 139
Less: Deposits classified I : B4 R JE IR )
as non-current assets Rz 4 (32,600) (21,424) = =
Current portion B 4 102,380 105,455 191 139
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The bt N R SO o B A BRI 4
financial assets included in the above balances relate to T A T 3 B JE A A e Bk 2 ME Wk IE o

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 A THBBIES AN £ @
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 53
Group
£H
2015 2014
—R A RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T
Listed equity investments in TW LR > T
Hong Kong, at market value 27,312 9,334
The above equity investments at 31 March 2015 were designated EHERBEER 2 —HE=H=1T+—HEAXR
by the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or HEERNPIEHERBIREABRATFEHBRBEIRA
loss upon initial recognition. IR Z Al o

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2015



25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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25. e KB E&SHMEH

Group Company
3| Al
2015 2014 2015 2014
SR -fAE ZFWE DR -fE FN4E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BT T BT T
Cash and bank balances Bl S SRAT i A7 470,375 484,918 878 470
Time deposits with original FA B W H AR
maturity of less than three EX i PE P =L R T
months when acquired 305,282 260,905 - -
Time deposits with original FEAFEHH SR
maturity of more than three =103 Z & W
months when acquired 81,930 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB4 %5 HEH 857,587 745,823 878 470

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$180,797,000 (2014: HK$182,321,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and six months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

R BIR - AREE AR (TARYD 5
i 2 Bl 4 K SRAT 4547 %180,797,0008 78 (&
—PU4E £ 182,321,000¥50) - AREASHH
Sh 4 JU A B W 5 AEURR 8 o IR K e b E 4 B AR
151 0 265 E > B R A IR A EHLAL S o AR R R o
75 M SR T AT A I SR I B 2 SRAT IS AN R

SRAT B A 1A HBRAT AR R A A DL i ) ) 3 e B
FLE o AR N F—HEAMAZ
A TR A o BLSPACSE I 2 B IR B oK
3 3% B A B2 569 A AR R R R B, o R
AT K547 T3 A7 Y A 191 I S 7 40 e ko AT RLAF 5
BT -

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26. MEAS B B ek ~ 0 JE A sk 9 B
Wl £
Group Company
ESL |
2015 2014 2015 2014

SR —NAE R VE B —RAE R VU4E

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000
BT #NET T #W T # T

Trade payables JE AT B 5 R Ak 210,212 201,579 = =
Other payables oAt W A 35K T 63,133 51,525 - -
Accruals R wE AR 102,046 104,706 1,480 1,465

375,391 357,810 1,480 1,465

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

T HE IR > AR B H Y Z AT B 5 Rk
IR AT T

Group
e YL |

2015 2014
e S5 XS ZR A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Within 1 month 1E A A 141,531 148,367
1 to 2 months 12216 A 36,019 31,581
2 to 3 months 2Z3ME A 15,513 8,965
Over 3 months 3E A 2Lk 17,149 12,666
210,212 201,579

Included in the trade payables are trade payables of
HK$53,037,000 (2014: HK$50,509,000) due to associates, which

are normally settled on 30-day to 60-day terms.
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are non-

interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.
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27.INTEREST-BEARING BANK
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27. AT ) B 2 8T Bk

BORROWINGS
2015 2014
e 2 K e S I1E:
Effective Effective
Group interest rate Maturity HK$’000 interest rate Maturity HK$’000
%M B % M H HWT I TR R B A BT
Current
i
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 1.0%-2.4% Within 109,131 1.0%-2.4% Within 121,085
JEHCA 5 RE PR B 12 months 12 months
or on demand or on demand
1287 W 1218 73 73
B E R WILE R
Bank loans — unsecured 0.6%-6.5% Within 802,018 0.7%-6.7% Within 651,960
R ST B K 12 months 12 months
or on demand or on demand
12AA R 1218 3 A
I ER AT K
911,149 773,045
Non-current
Fim 5
Bank loans — unsecured 0.9%-2.4% 2016-2018 80,551 0.9%-2.4% 2015-2016 60,284
T HEHH GRAT B ZEB N “E-HE
Z2R- N\ ETI Sy
991,700 833,329
Group
e 30|
2015 2014
ZR AR e S 111 F2 S
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT T
Analysed into: SR
Bank loans: BRAT K :
Within one year or on demand B AR NI OK 911,149 773,045
In the second year 8RN 61,505 34,864
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEFNHEN > B EHRWMAE 19,046 25,420
991,700 833,329

R - HOH R R e

oW &% M oAF R oA A
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)  All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest

rates.

(b) The bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Japanese
yen, Renminbi and United States dollar at the end of the reporting

period.

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and
based on the maturity terms of the bank loans and trust receipt
loans, the amounts repayable in respect of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings are: within one year or on demand of
HK$858,274,000 (2014: HK$729,295,000); in the second year of
HK$107,555,000 (2014: HK$59,864,000); and in the third to fifth
years, inclusive of HK$25,871,000 (2014: HK$44,170,000).

28. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

27. AT R B Z 87 Bk ()

B

B

(a)  FRAT BT R A5 RE WO Rk DL B AU &G, -

(b) FHECEHIR > AT R - BH - AR
PSS

L 63 A A 4 B R B R R AR B I AR R R AT
Bk B AR FE O Bk Z B G Ak AS 4 ) 2B 4
£ ] B Z SRAT A 8 Z MEAH 3K IE % = 858,274,000
Wt (ZF — I 4E £ 729,295,000% 7T) 28—
AR R R EOR A R 5 107,555,000% 8 (ZF
— Y42 = 59,864,000%5 70 ) ZH 58 AR 5 K
25,871,000%7C (ZF— PY4E : 44,170,000% 70 )
AR R (BB HREAE) R -

28. HE HE B
RAERNBEEREABGRAEEZZTWT ¢

Group - 2015 £ 0 Rt S T 2
Deferred tax liabilities WE %L B8 IH £ 4%
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated  arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation ~ Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
VR 9B i Y O
B A A
il ZATHNE LB TR KL it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
#W T #W T #W T #W T #WT I
At 1 April 2014 REF—WNENH—H 3,036 12,060 3,798 201 19,095
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AREFREBFERMG
to the statement of profit or (7 A) Z BRI
loss during the year (note 10)  (Hf#10) 1,207 (493) 875 = 1,589
Exchange realignment T 5% it - 28 - - 28
At 31 March 2015 R_F—HE=ZH=+—H 4,243 11,595 4,673 201 20,712
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Group - 2015

Deferred tax assets

Notes to Financial Statements
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28. JEHE B (7H)

- —F-H4E

3B #iE BE I W

Losses
available for

Decelerated offsetting
tax  against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
WA L K
W LR M50 B ik A
i 585 2 1 b At
HK$’000 HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
BT BT #W T BT
At 1 April 2014 REZ—WENH—H 3 415 1,112 1,530
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AAEERARENFAS
to the statement of profit or (BR) 2 EIERLIH
loss during the year (note 10) (HiEio0) 2,434 (415) 240 2,259
At 31 March 2015 R-ZF-HEZA=+—H 2,437 - 1,352 3,789
Group - 2014 B -4
Deferred tax liabilities W %iE Bl I £ 0%
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries of properties taxes Total
AL e
MERE AR
il ZATHEE L Kl ELE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
EWTT EWTT W T WL W T
At 1 April 2013 RZZ-=ZHNA—H 1,521 12,640 3,889 201 18,251
Deferred tax charged/(credited) — AVAE i FME 25 % M 1 b/
to the statement of profit or (FHA) ZIBEBLIE
loss during the year (note 10) (Hiti0) 1,515 (478) 91) - 946
Exchange realignment HE 52 7 8% = (102) = = (102)
At 31 March 2014 REB-NEZAZ+—H 3,036 12,060 3,798 201 19,095

R - HOH R R e

oW &% M oAF R oA A
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Group — 2014

Deferred tax assets

28. JEHE B (4H)

B - F P4
Y %t B I s
Losses

available for

Decelerated offsetting

tax against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total

W] AR Bt A

il 12 L 05 B #Rt d F)
i fg i i Al At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T BT T

At 1 April 2013

Deferred tax charged
to the statement of profit or

loss during the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2014

RoF—=4#NHA—H 3 415 1,158 1,576
AREFEMMAE RN

Bk 2 98 B IE

(Hit10) - - (46) (46)
REZ—NEZA=Z+—H 3 415 1,112 1,530

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$107,901,000 (2014: HK$128,234,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$188,539,000 (2014: HK$178,250,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as, in the opinion of the directors, it
is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.
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28.

29.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 March 2015, except for the deferred tax recognised for a
PRC subsidiary that will distribute dividend, no other deferred
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding
taxes. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$62,161,000 at 31 March 2015 (2014:
HK$58,784,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment

of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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28. JEHE B (7H)

WRZF-LE=ZA=Z+—H B — M T
43 IR B B 22 v B I R 2 ) e SR AR A B IE A
I 3w N e N o N s A i /A
it Z A ME H 2R fir s A 22 8 0 B e R L fih 2%
HEBLIE o Ay > 5% WS A R R T T R
ARARPIREREF - R _FT—HEZH
ZEF—H > BRAPEKEZHEBA A ZHRER
B 2 AR AR A B A A T W E AR A
#562,161,000% JC (ZF — P44 : 58,784,000
JC) °

A0y W IR B M S T M R 2 Ak I A A R A
Bisg & o

SHARE CAPITAL 29. JBe AR
Shares BBy
2015 2014
R —TAR R4
HK$’000 HKS$°000
BT B o
Authorised: W
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares 1,000,000,000/8 5 ¢ T {EL
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% 0 Z ¥ 4 i 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CBITRHR -
384,257,640 (2014: 387,909,640) 384,257,6408 (& —PY4E :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 387,909,640/ ) 4 B THi f60.10% JC
(2014: HK$0.10) each TR PUAE  0.10¥0) Z 35 8 R 38,425 38,790

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 3,652,000
of its own shares on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$17,570,000. The repurchased
shares were cancelled before 31 March 2015 and the premium
paid on the repurchase was charged to the share premium
account. An amount equivalent to the par value of the ordinary
shares cancelled was transferred to the capital redemption reserve

as set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

AR > AR B A2 BT ] 343,652,000 /8 B
By > BAARAE £ %517,570,00098 I » B B 1E 2 Bt
BERB-HLE=ZHA=+—H Z s - 5
Wl 2 O A 1 T 8 B i VR 1 Bk o AR AR S
TR 2 8 B 2 BT A A0 0 0 0 1 A < A
AR O 2 A U T A o

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29. JBeA (%)
A summary of the repurchase of shares during the year ended 31 BRE R —HAFE=ZH=1—H 1k 4 B8 = B4
March 2015 is as follows: WE U F ¢

Number of Price per share Total
shares repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
Pt ik el OBt £ 4 H 5 JBe i L AU AS O A

Month HH B 52119
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
Boc o BT
July 2014 ZF LA 1,644,000 5.02 4.65 8,051
August 2014 ZF—-NENA 1,040,000 4.77 4.65 4,901
September 2014 ZE—-NEA 968,000 4.86 4.60 4,618
3,652,000 17,570

There was no share repurchase during the year ended 31 March

BE R -WEZH =1 H R4 R I

2014. 1e] i JB i
A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to BN N G TRAERN OB TS0 R AT 2=
the movements in the Company’s issued ordinary share capital is GREEE BT :
as follows:
Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
% £ 1)
WaBEH CETRA R EUR A5t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T o BT T BT T
At 1 April 2013, P_F=FMHA—H -
31 March 2014 ZE-NE=ZA=Z+—HRK
and 1 April 2014 ZF—-NFEMA—H 387,909,640 38,790 216,506 255,296
Repurchase and i I R 4 e
cancellation of
shares (3,652,000) (365) (17,205) (17,570)
At 31 March 2015 R_F—HFE=ZA=1+—H 384,257,640 38,425 199,301 237,726
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any executive director or employee of any
of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entity in which the Group
holds any equity interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those remain
unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period
shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of grant as within the share option period for which such share
options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 38,831,364 ordinary shares,
being 10.0% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 38,831,364 ordinary
shares, representing 10.1% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (excluding any independent non-
executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of each
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.
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30. & JBE A 1l

A2 T B W PR A w3 4 I S5 % [e i A AR
MEEERA AR ERZAER28E - Gtll
ZHEKSHEBHARNF ZE R (BHEHT
FEPATES) - H AR B KA T HEE A R K
A S5 B e A AT B B i T AT
fEH o

PEF-TENHZHNH > RARRMA—IH
S B Mt ) ([ 3H 300 ) o w2 A B A 104
EOFH)NAZHEHAL KB AE
852 A o i Je M > AHL 38 2 sk AE BT A A
75 T ATS 8% 22 330 B A 3 o B AR A b i A B
BIF > SR B0 B AR o (7 F
YO i 8 T A3 A BB AT 8 2 B F B o A3 T % T L
PERR N R Z R AEATRE > SN2 5t B S 2 -

Al AR R S 2 4 0 R AT 0 B RE
B 0 B H %538,831,364 8 35 18 e > AH S A 24
FMAE_Z-Z®#NAZT/\HOBEITRBZ
10.0% © T A< e % %2 8% H 0 > ML B st 3 vy gt 5%
172 Ay 48 95 538,831,364 5 35 38 Bt > #H & it
A T BB BAT AR 210.1% © FEAR AT+ A
EE N S S RO S P ATy <y
2 B35 AT Z B B4y B0 H R A58 AR 2 W) AE
AT AA] e ] 2 CBEAT e 2 1% © AR — 25 4% i
R A P R A = B R > B ZEAE R OR K RS
TR AL

BYAANFESR - RETBN B R EERR
DRI E PN NS Y E S
A 2 T S IR AT e (FF o 0 4% T
JBHE Z B Sr IE AT E B G HAEN) o Buhb
TEAL T+ A8 A 3R P ACA W 2 BB
B IE AT R > MR AL
A ] I P A A 2 A A AT 1 ] 2 L AT
P 2.0.1% K F BEAE (4% Y AR RE % H 2 JBE Ay
Wi et 50 S T BT > W ZH SR I
WK B B AL o

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to directors and
other employees of the Company or employees of any of the
Company’s subsidiaries and any entities in which the Group
holds any equity interests (2014: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2014: Nil).
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31. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 60 to

61 of the financial statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i) the
credit of HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit of HK$40,889,000
arising from the repurchase of shares during the years ended
31 March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the
Group’s subsidiaries and the Group’s associates operating as
Foreign Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been
transferred to the reserve funds. The reserve funds are non-
distributable in nature and can be utilised to offset the losses

incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of

capitalisation of retained profits by an associate.
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31. RESERVES (continued) 31. Gl f (74)
(b) Company (b) AT
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Capital
premium  revaluation  redemption Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
Wik B
fHEL Bk
T - B e it J I ik RERA it
Note HKS$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000
Wit BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2013 RZF-ZHNF—H 250,325 13 1,166 26435 277,939
Total comprehensive ERARE IS
income for the year - 100 - 32,143 32,243
Interim 2014 dividend “R-WEPHRA 12 = = = (1,758) (1,758)
Proposed final 2014 dividend ZR-NERRARRE 12 = = = (23.275) 23.275)
At31 March 2014 and REB-WEZA=ZF—HE
at 1 April 2014 ZE-WENA—H 250,325 113 1,166 27,545 279,149
Total comprehensive ER AR
income for the year - (71) - 38,272 38,201
Repurchase of shares i T I £ (17,205) = 365 (365) (17,205)
Final 2014 dividend “R-NEAHRR = = = 161 161
Tnterim 2015 dividend ZE-RERRA 12 = = = (11,528) (11,528)
Proposed final 2015 dividend ZE-HEERANRA 12 = = = (24.977) (24.977)
At 31 March 2015 RZF-AEZAZ+—H 233,120 Q2 1,531 29,108 263,801

The Company’s share premium account includes (i) the
credit of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the
Company and the combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993; and
(ii) the debit of HK$40,889,000 arising from the repurchase
of shares during the years ended 31 March 2015, 2013,
2011 and 2010. Under the Company Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands, a distribution may be made from the share

premium account in certain circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital
of the subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired,
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed
above.
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32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to an
associate under an operating lease arrangement, with a lease
negotiated for a term of two years.

At 31 March 2015, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease

with its associate falling due as follows:
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R8BI

(a)

e 2y ALA

ALEECBHE LR Z REY
% (BFELS) F—Frlgh e A W] - KERER Z Al
KA 2 M4

REF-HEZA=Z+—H > RBEEE
AT RISLZ AT R R AR AR
2T T B 35 BT R 2 e R 4 AR A
T

Group
£ L

2015 2014
N L
HK$°000 HK$’000
W T BT T
Within one year —4 RN 295 1,179
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 58 %5 FL4F » A5 H R W4E — 295
295 1,474

As lessee

The Group leases certain land and buildings under operating
lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging
from one to fifty years. The Group has the option of
extending the leases of buildings by up to three years in
certain operating lease arrangements.

At 31 March 2015, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

falling due as follows:

(b)

fe By R ALA

ARG T 12 A A R PR B T e R
Foo MEEW ZMAEN B R0 HER
G o A TR R > AL AR
BRIt R AT B IE =4 o

REF-HEZAZ+—H > REEARE
AR AT 8 < K88 AHL A T T 51 90 PR
it Z B AR A RIE WM T

Group
£ 3|

2015 2014
e Sl S “E 4
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Within one year —4EN 134,818 114,467
In the second to fifth years, inclusive B OEEHE s S ERME 197,350 121,733
After five years o HAR 48,583 41,965
380,751 278,165

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have

any future minimum lease receivables or payments under non-

cancellable operating leases (2014: Nil).

TR AR > A B M AT ] FE A W 48 AR
BT > H AR S AR B BORIE A% (ZF
— P4 JE) o
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33. COMMITMENTS 33. 7R ¥
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B b ST RE32(b) sk At 2 2848 R AT AR I Ab > A4
32(b) above, the Group had capital commitments in respect of B T K S 2 R M e 2 A AR
property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period: mF:
Group
M
2015 2014
“R N RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Contracted, but not provided for AT A H AR 48 465 13,698 7,989
At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no EREBIAR > AN R MEE KRS (ZF—PY4E
significant commitments (2014: Nil). fHE) o
34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS M. HEANLZEY
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) ik O 45 B s 4t LAt Oy BT Rt Al 2 32 5
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had FEERAN s N ARE H LS A LFT T
the following material transactions with its related parties PE KA G :
during the year:
2015 2014
e S X 3 “E 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT BT
Purchases of goods from associates [ i %5 2 &] £f i (6)) 416,186 374,084
Sales of goods to associates T W 2 ) 6 (ii) 10,976 11,934
Promotion expenses reimbursed Tk 48 A ) T8 4 B S
by associates (iii) 29,747 20,493
Rental income from an associate RABEARZHERA  (iv) 1,246 1,215
Sales of goods to a subsidiary FARA R EERRZ
of a substantial shareholder Fi Jo5 2 ] 63 65 £ A
of the Company ) 3,464 4,464
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a) (continued)

(b)

(c)

Notes:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-

determined prices agreed between the parties.

The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to

those offered to other major customers.

The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

The rental income from an associate was determined between

the Group and the associate.

The selling prices of the goods sold were determined by
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered to

other major customers.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

()

(i)

Details of the amounts due from associates to the
Group as at 31 March 2014 are included in note 19 to
the financial statements.

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its associates
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in notes

22 and 26 to the financial statements.

Commitments with related parties

On 1 July 2013, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a

two-year agreement with an associate, to lease the Group’s

investment property to that associate. Details of the

operating lease commitment are disclosed in note 32(a) to

the financial statements.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BEAN LR Y ()
(continued)
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (d) AREEMFEEFHANBRZHM -
2015 2014
e S5 KIS ZR A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT T
Short term employee benefits 18 B 1 A 19,187 18,893
Pension scheme contributions AR 4 5 3 Btk 680 709
19,867 19,602
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s W R AT B 4 2 M — 25 5 R
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial A U A B S e
statements.
The related party transactions set out in note 34(a)(v) also PR R34 (a) (v)TE B it 2 B 2N 32 5 A A K
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in EH BRI AAE T R E Z AR G -

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3[.EAMTRZAH
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RHAEHIAR > FEEM T AZIEHRMEN T ¢
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Group - 2015 B - AR
Financial assets SR
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
WS
HaEAMRZ ok K o 4 i £
£ R g MW 2 e A M

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
#W T #W T #W T W T

Available-for-sale investments al 4k R - - 3,791 3,791
Trade receivables FE W B 5 iRk - 534,758 - 534,758
Financial assets included in AL F5 A AT SOHE -
prepayments, deposits and w4 B A R ik
other receivables R Z A b - 93,366 - 93,366
Financial assets at fair value AT EBERELR
through profit or loss AR Z Sl g 27,312 = = 27,312
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB4 % HE EH = 857,587 = 857,587
27,312 1,485,711 3,791 1,516,814
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 35. R LR 22 5 ()
CATEGORY (continued)
Group — 2014 B — B4R
Financial assets LG E
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
WA EZER
HiEAMRZ Bk & ]t
4 il REWR 2 aEEE kil
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT T BT T
Available-for-sale investments YA R - - 47,639 47,639
Due from associates R W Ui 7 2 W] - 23 - 23
Trade receivables HE W B 5 ik K - 494,499 - 494,499
Financial assets included in A 55 7 FE AT ROE
prepayments, deposits and T 4 B At 8 W
other receivables AR Z 4 - 85,275 - 85,275
Financial assets at fair value A R R R K = o
through profit or loss AR Z & A 9,334 = = 9,334
Cash and cash equivalents B4 J Bl I H = 745,823 = 745,823
9,334 1,325,620 47,639 1,382,593
Group %M
Financial liabilities 4 b £k
2015 2014
- 2 X 2 e S U2
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
WA AN B R AR
1Y 45 9l £1 £ 4 <8l LA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Financial liabilities included in 95 77 HEAF 52 5 MK~
trade payables, other JHL Al JRE A sk T % M
payables and accruals 08 Z 4 i £ 341,981 324,015
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HBAT R B Z R AT R 991,700 833,329
1,333,681 1,157,344

R - HOH R R e
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35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 5.4 T2 08 (4)
CATEGORY (continued)
Company |
Financial assets 4 il
2015 2014
ZE—1ik ZE-NE
Available- Available-
Loans and for-sale Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total receivables  financial assets Total
jiv 94 WAk B TR W
Blox  ZemERE ik Bl ZAMEE mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W T EW T EW T EHFI BRI BETT
Available-for-sale investments W SR Y - 177 177 = 248 248
Due from subsidiaries e W B 24 ) 682,941 - 682,941 671,777 = 677,777
Cash and bank balances ReRBL AR 878 - 878 470 = 470
683,819 177 683,996 678,247 248 678,495
Company Vi |
Financial liabilities A A
2015 2014
AR R4
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
U A AR R B AR AR
1t 4 il 8 £ F) 43 b £
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT T
Due to subsidiaries JRE A5F Bt} Jeg A 7] 448,612 429,063
Financial liabilities included BT E AT B 5 MR AR~ b £
in trade payables, I I e w14
other payables and accruals Z 4l A A 1,480 1,465
450,092 430,528

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e

ANNUAL REPORT 2015




36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Except for certain unlisted equity investments classified as
available for sale for which the fair value could not be measured
reliably and were carried at cost, available-for-sale investments
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were

carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in trade payables, other payables and accruals, amounts
due from/to subsidiaries, amounts due from associates and bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments or with floating

interest rates.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and

annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced

or liquidation sale.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of club debentures are based on

market observable transactions.
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2015

3&%@1%2&?@&&¥ﬁ%$

M

BT
T AR I T T B0 2 F AR

B AN A 19 7

RE-FE—HF=ZH=1—H

Fair value measurement using

O P ER
Group Company
£ 2l
Quoted prices Significant Quoted prices
in active observable in active
markets inputs markets
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total (Level 1)
WwH mAWB%E i B
W 5 LN i el
(B—M) (=) At (B—H)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
#EWT T #W T BT W T
Available-for-sale investments: R
Listed equity investments LR R 431 - 431 177
Unlisted club debenture Ik L & P A - 627 627 -
Financial assets at fair value RN PEE B IH A5
through profit or loss AR Z & il 27,312 = 27,312 =
27,743 627 28,370 177
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

As at 31 March 2014
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36. ﬁ:ﬁ?Iﬁzé}ﬁfﬁ&é\WﬂE%ﬂﬁ

m

REZF—WFE=HA=

+—H

Fair value measurement using

WA R A
Group Company
#H AH
Quoted prices Significant Quoted prices
in active observable in active
markets inputs markets
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total (Level 1)
5 B ENGIE %23 i HE
i 35 AR i AE A
(SE—Jd) (GE_Jd) it (E—M)
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Vidi e HHTFT W T T BT
Available-for-sale investments: R R < g
Listed equity investments LR 44,579 - 44,579 248
Unlisted club debenture Fk b & R A %R - 327 327 -
Financial assets at fair value N R K = o
through profit or loss AR Z &Rl & & 9,334 - 9,334 -
53,913 327 54,240 248

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level

3 for the financial assets of the Group and the Company (2014:

Nil).

The Group and the Company did not have any financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

N ARG RAA T Z 4 AR &
SR N T 3 SRS P AR =
AR NGO (ZF U4 ) -

REF-HEZH=Z1—H o KREERAAF
A AR 4% A FEF R 2 SR A A (CF N

) o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale investments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade payables and other payables,

which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and long term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using variable

rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity. There is no

impact on the Company’s equity.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
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37. W0 %5 L B 4% P H B % R (7))

(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) ) % L Be ()
Group
g0
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B:3 5 B vif % A B A
Bim, (%) B, (%) Bim, (WA4)
HK$’000 HK$’000
o W o
2015 —F TR
Hong Kong dollar Wt 25 (739) =
Japanese yen H [l 25 (1,219) =
RMB AR ¥ 25 (267) =
Hong Kong dollar Wt (25) 739 -
Japanese yen H [l (25) 1,219 =
RMB AR ¥ (25) 267 =
2014 R4
Hong Kong dollar W 25 (890) -
Japanese yen H & 25 (990) =
RMB N 25 (223) =
Hong Kong dollar W (25) 890 -
Japanese yen H & (25) 990 =
RMB N (25) 223 =

*  Excluding retained profits

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies

other than the units’ functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Japanese yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group’s equity (due to changes in fair value of forward currency

contracts). There is no impact on the Company’s equity.

AR B i A

A WE B B8

A SR [0 i 2 22 B W B o % S IR TS TR
R BLAL DL LAY 2 Th R 65 W A S 2 B AT
B A AR o

AR BN AR A At AT R M AN A DL
o ACHE [ B B A (b BN A X AU
1 AT A ) P B0) B AR 4 P RE 2 (P 2 10 8
WS B A0 Y 2 S5 B BT B0) R s R 3 H R
Be N B ME 3% £ Bl v] B 48 ) < SBURRJE o A L
e S A 2 ] 2 A N S 5 o

TR o H R E R e WOW K M OE R A
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*  Excluding retained profits
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37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. S 5 B B 4 B R e B SRE ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) A B B B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
JE R ik B il ik ) B i+
Bm, (W4) Bm, (W) Bm, (W)
% HK$’000 HK$’000
W T o BT T
2015 — 2
If Hong Kong dollar weakens FC 5 H [E 85 3
against Japanese yen 1 (5,321) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens W0 SN R 59 3
against RMB 1 1,299 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  #5 #5JC 5. H [H] 58
against Japanese yen 1) 5,321 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 75 #5 G 5t A R W 5 4
against RMB 1) (1,299) -
2014 —F -l
If Hong Kong dollar weakens # T 5 H [E 55 34
against Japanese yen 1 (4,076) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens #5050 R 59 24
against RMB 1 1,441 =
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens %7 ¥ JG bt H [B] 58 24
against Japanese yen (1) 4,076 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  #7 #5 76 i A B i 44
against RMB (D (1,441) -

AR B A



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale
investments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from associates and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by
geographical region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely
dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 22
to the financial statements.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk through the
granting of financial guarantees to banks in connection with
facilities granted to subsidiaries of HK$2,615,575,000 (2014:
HK$2,261,708,000) and to third parties in connection with lease
payments for lease agreements entered into by a subsidiary of
HK$36,955,000 (2014: HK$40,447,000). As at 31 March 2015,
the banking facilities granted to subsidiaries subject to guarantees
given to banks by the Company were utilised to the extent of
approximately HK$991,700,000 (2014: HK$833,329,000).

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank

borrowings.

Notes to Financial Statements

St 5 e o W Rk

Year ended 31 March 2015 ®ZE - —H4E=H =+—HIL4E

37. W0 %5 L B 4% P H B % R (7))
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. Y 5 e g 4% B H B B BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) ) B 4 B (A
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as LU B ET 2R BB IR 3K - DT 3050 AR 45 [ %
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual B R 2 B BB
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
Group
E L]
2015
R
On demand
or less than 1toS
12 months years Total
YR AR
1268 H 1554 M
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BHTI BT BHTI
Financial liabilities included in trade B35 77 HE A B 5 B
payables, other payables and accruals Al A 3R I
JE it £ £ = 4 i £ A 341,981 - 341,981
Interest-bearing bank borrowings R BT R B Z SRAT K 913,537 80,757 994,294
1,255,518 80,757 1,336,275
Group
&M
2014
—F N
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
1216 A 1 & 54 sk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BWT T BT BT
Financial liabilities included in trade AL 45 77 FE A 52 5 Bk~
payables, other payables and accruals LAt JBE A 23K JE %
JE it £ 6% < 42l £ 324,015 - 324,015
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AT R B Z SR AT R 775,185 60,456 835,641
1,099,200 60,456 1,159,656
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Group

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s term loans with on demand
clause in the amount of HK$52,875,000 (2014: HK$43,750,000)
were repayable over one year in accordance with the terms of
the loan. The loan agreement contained a repayment on demand
clause giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loan
at any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity

profile, the total amount was classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that these bank loans will be called in its entirety within 12
months, and they consider that these borrowings will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

Company

At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due to
subsidiaries of HK$448,612,000 (2014: HK$429,063,000),
guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted
to subsidiaries of HK$991,700,000 (2014: HK$833,329,000)
utilised by the subsidiaries and guarantees given to third parties
in connection with lease payments for lease agreements entered
into by a subsidiary of HK$36,955,000 (2014: HK$40,447,000)
are repayable on demand.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments (note 20)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 24)
as at 31 March 2015.
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37. W0 %5 L B 4% P H B % R (7))

i B e 4 B ()
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MR-F—HAEZA=Z+—H > HEBERZIHK
Ko A SR B AT 4 R B R Rk 2 A R
52,875,000% 76 (=& — W44 : 43,750,000 JC )
A A AR AR AR o BRI R A VT BE R SR AR
ok > B T SR AT M6 0% 1 BE R BE e 3 OR A R £
oo EE e B B BRI F - RS
SRR EKR] -

il B WO Ak > M SRR S ERAT B
HEAS Y 1218 2 B > WOt SRR
A I 7 42 JRCR K o i P K 2 B0 AR < R
A A B RE AR BRF E % 08 T 1 R R s AR A
B A B H 2 B DL - AC SR
KB Z AL ~ W SR A 1 R A SR R A —
T 8 IR 2 301 92 3K o

A

IR > A B B A W) 3K T 448,612,0009
JC (= — P94 : 429,063,000% 76) > Kl &
25 ] Jin B =2 0 A il g e SR AT PR AR s AR
991,700,000% 76 (=& — Y4 : 833,329,000
JC) KB E AR T e M E W A B L
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments had
been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s and the Company’s available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserves would have increased/decreased by
approximately HK$13,000 (2014: HK$1,337,000) and HK$5,000
(2014: HK$7,000), respectively, at 31 March 2015 as a result of
the changes in the fair values of the Group’s and the Company’s
certain available-for-sale investments, and the Group’s profit
after tax for the year would have increased/decreased by
approximately HK$684,000 (2014: HK$280,000) as a result of
the changes in the fair value of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or repurchase shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2015

37. 0 5 L B 4% PR H B % R (7))

JBe 55 A H B ()

i 2% - i R i % = RS B WA 3% > HA
AR EREEAE > R B HE=ZA=+—
H > A 8 Jo AR 23w 2 ) 43 B 43 5 o040 ok
A EARGEE RARA R LT EHEREZ AT
i 48 ) g 43 530 B4 W A £913,0009 78 (=%
— P94 £ 1,337,000 5C) 55,0008 50 (Z=F—
4 2 7,000¥5C) » T A B M 2 AR AR BE BRBLAR B
U 95 R A 4 B o T A 2 P E B I AR 25 AR 1Y
2 B E = V- B I B WA £1684,000
Wt (ZF—U4E : 280,000 5C) °

A4 B

ACHR M 2 RS ACAE B R R e AR AC SR AT R
3 AR A R S D ) O A A R AR
Pl 3 DA 52 e 03 5 3 e RAL PR SRR -

A% 5 1 L4 480 WP R A 2 B A A B R AR A5 I
VAR BE o T #e 1 o B S AC A M > A SR 0 T
B AR Z IR, ~ 1 OB [ A - B AT
s E By o RBRE_E—-HE=ZH=+—H
LR -NEZH =+ HIRFEER > BEARY
Bl HBR - BOR S P 0 4 Y B ) o



37.

38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:
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37. W0 %5 L B 4% P H B % R (7))

B A B ()

AR E A AR A R B A HER
RSN ) I8 2 BRAT Bk Bk DAAR 2 ) e 5 i A
R A 2 O 5 B R o (R0 AR b R o g A4 B
JaE IR « RECGEHIR > AEREARLRNT

Group
e 3|
2015 2014
it 2 K 2 R
HK$°000 HK$’000
W T T BT T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TR BT B Z R AT B 991,700 833,329
Equity attributable to equity holders 2 NN

of the Company i R RE SR 1,399,414 1,328,620
Gearing ratio ABEARILE 71% 63%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 38. W W 2 Hib vk

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 29 June 2015.
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168 Particulars of Property

S

F

31 March 2015 =% —H4E=ZH=+—H -
INVESTMENT PROPERTY #HE&WE
Percentage of
attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group
7 4 1R A
i B & B L E-¥ipidia
Levels 1 and 2 (west portion) Industrial Medium 100
of Four Seas Group Guangdong term lease
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’ s Republic of China
w2 A R 36 A T¥ A A 100
o R A8 il B T A S L
VY I S )2 R AR R

A R — A e o (Ve )
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